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West law 

849 F.2d 222, 56 USLW 2721 

(Cite as: 849 F.2d 222) 

United States Court of Appeals, 

Sixth Circuit. 

J. Frank MANNING, an individual, suing on his own 

behalf and on behalf of all other persons similarly 

situated, Plaintiff, 

Fort Deposit Bank, a corporation, Defendant and 

Third-Party Plaintiff-Appellee, 

v. 
WARING, COX, JAMES, SKLAR AND ALLEN, a 

partnership composed of Allen Cox, Jr., Roane War­

ing, Jr., Erick William James, Robert Lee Cox, H. 

Sklar, Louis F. Allen, and Rodger D. Fish as general 

partners, Third-Party Defendants-Appellants. 

No. 86-6239. 

Argued Nov. 13, 1987. 

Decided June 9, 1988. 

Third-party plaintiff brought motion to disqualify 

counsel for third-party defendants, in action brought 

by third-party defendants seeking contribution for 

third-party defendants' alleged violation of state se­

curity laws. The United States District Court for the 

Western District of Tennessee, James Dale Todd, J., 

619 F.Supp. 1327, granted motion, and third-party 

defendants appealed. The Court of Appeals, Alan E. 

Norris, Circuit Judge, held that: (1) presumption that 

confidences in possession of attorney will be shared 

with other members of firm is rebuttable, and thus 

"Chinese wall" screening devices may rebut pre­

sumption of shared knowledge among members of 

firm in conflict involving former client, and (2) re­

mand was necessary to determine whether law firm 

representing third-party defendants should be dis­

qualified because one of its attorneys previously had 

represented third-party plaintiff in related state court 

litigation. 
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Remanded. 

Merritt, Circuit Judge, concurred in part, dis­

sented in part, and filed opinion. 

West Headnotes 

[l] Attorney and Client 45 €;=>21.20 

45 Attorney and Client 

451 The Office of Attorney 

45I(B) Privileges, Disabilities, and Liabilities 

45k2 l .20 k. Disqualification proceedings; 

standing. Most Cited Cases 

Presumption that confidences in possession of 

attorney will be shared with other members of firm is 

rebuttable, and thus existence of "Chinese wall" 

screening devices may rebut presumption of shared 

knowledge among members of firm in conflict in­

volving former client. 

[2] Attorney and Client 45 €;=>21.20 

45 Attorney and Client 

451 The Office of Attorney 

451(B) Privileges, Disabilities, and Liabilities 

45k21.20 k. Disqualification proceedings; 

standing. Most Cited Cases 

Where it has been demonstrated that disqualifi­

cation of attorney and his law firm on grounds that 

attorney previously represented opposing party of 

client will work hardship, it is clear that attorney, 

whom law firm "quarantined," was privy to confi­

dential information received from former client now 

seeking disqualification, and there is substantial rela­

tionship between subject matter of prior and present 

© 2014 Thomson Reuters. No Claim to Orig. US Gov. Works. 



849 F.2d 222, 56 USLW 2721 

(Cite as: 849 F.2d 222) 

representations, then court must determine whether 

presumption of shared confidences has been rebutted; 

one method of rebutting presumption is by demon­

strating that specific institutional screening mecha­
nisms have been implemented to effectively insulate 

against any flow of confidential information from 

quarantined attorney to other members of law firm. 

[3] Attorney and Client 45 ~21.15 

45 Attorney and Client 
451 The Office of Attorney 

45I(B) Privileges, Disabilities, and Liabilities 

45k20 Representing Adverse Interests 

45k2 l. I 5 k. Partners and associates. 

Most Cited Cases 

In determining whether law firm representing 

client should be disqualified because one of its attor­
neys previously represented opposing party of client, 

factors appropriate for consideration by trial court 

include but are not limited to size and structural divi­
sions of law firm involved, likelihood of contact be­

tween "infected" attorney and specific attorneys re­

sponsible for present representation, existence of rules 
which prevent "infected" attorney from access to 

relevant files or access to information pertaining to 
present litigation, and existence of rules which prevent 

attorney from sharing in fees derived from such liti­
gation. 

[4] Federal Courts 170B ~3785 

l 70B Federal Courts 
l 70BXVII Courts of Appeals 

170BXVII(L) Determination and Disposition 

of Cause 
l 70Bk3779 Directing New Trial or Other 

Proceedings Below; Remand 

l 70Bk3785 k. Need for further evi­
dence, findings, or conclusions. Most Cited Cases 

(Formerly 170Bk922) 
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Remand was necessary to determine whether law 

firm representing third-party defendant should be 

disqualified because one of its attorneys previously 
had represented third-party plaintiff in related state 

court litigation; law firm had argued that "Chinese 

wall" screening devices had prevented disclosure of 

any confidential information by attorney, and pre­

sumption that confidences in possession of attorney 
will be shared with other members of firm is rebutta­

ble. 

*223 James S. Cox, Memphis, Tenn., for third-party 
defendants-appellants. 

Carl H. Langschmidt, Jr., C. Kimbrough Brown (ar­

gued), Memphis, Tenn., for defendant and third-party 

plaintiff-appellee. 

Before MERRITT and NORRIS, Circuit Judges; and 

CELEBREZZE, Senior Circuit Judge. 

ALANE. NORRIS, Circuit Judge. 

The law firm of Waring, Cox, James, Sklar & 

Allen ("Waring, Cox"), third-party defendant, appeals 

from an order of the district court granting the motion 

of defendant and third-party plaintiff, Fort Deposit 
Bank, to disqualify the law firm of Heiskell, Donel­
son, Bearman, Adams, Williams & Kirsch ("Heiskell, 

Donelson") from serving as counsel for Waring, Cox 

in the claim brought against it by the bank. 619 
F.Supp. 1327. Pursuant to 28 U.S.C. § 1292(b), the 

district court certified the order for immediate appeal, 
and appeal was permitted by a panel of this court. 

In 1972, the town of Grand Junction, Tennessee 

issued industrial revenue bonds to finance the con­

struction of a manufacturing plant. Waring, Cox 

served as bond counsel to the town. The bonds were to 
be repaid through rents received by the town; payment 

was guaranteed by the two individuals who proposed 

to operate the manufacturing plant. These guarantors 
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submitted financial statements which were circulated 

as an attachment to the prospectus. 

An Oklahoma bank served as trustee for the bond 

issue. The bonds were marketed through underwriters, 

one of which was Fort Deposit Bank, of Fort Deposit, 

Alabama. In other words, Fort Deposit bought bonds 

from the Oklahoma bank and sold them to investors. 

By October 1974, payment on the bonds was in 

default. In February 1975, the Oklahoma bank and 

Grand Junction filed a complaint in state court against 

the guarantors. An amended complaint added the 

bondholders as defendants (as a class), and sought a 

declaratory judgment that the Oklahoma bank had 

properly administered the bond issue. The bondhold­

ers counterclaimed against the Oklahoma bank and 

added Waring, Cox as a third-party defendant, alleg­

ing malpractice. Waring, Cox retained Memphis at­

torney Leo Bearman, Jr., of the Heiskell, Donelson 

firm, as counsel. 

In February 1977, while the state court action was 

pending, this action against Fort Deposit Bank was 

filed in the same state court, as a class action by the 

bondholders who had purchased their bonds from Fort 

Deposit. The complaint alleged violations of state 

securities laws, including misrepresentation of the net 

worth of the guarantors. Fort Deposit removed the 

action to federal district court. Attorney Daniel Hat­

zenbuehler, of the law firm of Boone, Wellford, Clark, 

Langschmidt & Pemberton ("Boone, Wellford"), 

undertook Fort Deposit's representation. Action on 

this federal lawsuit was informally stayed pending the 

outcome of the state court action. 

In the state court action, all claims were either 

settled or dismissed, with the exception of the one by 

the bondholders against Waring, Cox. The trial court 

awarded judgment to the bondholders, but the state 

court of appeals reversed on the ground that the claim 

against Waring, Cox had not been filed timely under 

Page 3 

the applicable statute of limitations. The Supreme 

Court of Tennessee affirmed. See Security Bank & 

Trust Co. v. Fabricating. Inc., 673 S.W.2d 860 

(Tenn.1983), cert. de/lied sub nom. Podrog v. Waring. 

Cox, James, Sklar & Allen. 469 U.S. I 038, 105 S.Ct. 

515, 83 L.Ed.2d 405 (1984). 

In April 1984, with Fort Deposit's knowledge, 

Hatzenbuehler joined Heiskell, Donelson, and the 

bank continued his employment as its counsel in this 

action. In October 1984, Fort Deposit decided it 

should join Waring, Cox as a third-party defend­

ant, *224 and Hatzenbuehler terminated his relation­

ship with the bank. Boone, Wellford then undertook 

Fort Deposit's defense and, in December 1984, filed a 

third-party complaint alleging that Waring, Cox was 

liable to the bank for contribution should plaintiffs 

prevail against it, since Waring, Cox had served as 

bond counsel. Waring, Cox again retained Heiskell, 

Donelson. The bank then sought to disqualify 

Heiskell, Donelson as counsel for Waring, Cox, due to 

Hatzenbuehler's prior involvement with the case. 

Although the bank alleged that Hatzenbuehler was 

privy to its confidences and secrets as the result of his 

representation, it did not suggest that he had disclosed 

them. 

Waring, Cox conceded that Hatzenbuehler's prior 

representation of the bank mandated his disqualifica­

tion, but argued that the harsh remedy of disqualifying 

the entire law firm of Heiskell, Donelson was not 

warranted. Waring, Cox pointed out that Heiskell, 

Donelson was uniquely qualified to represent its in­

terests in this lawsuit, in view of its representation 

throughout the prolonged state litigation, and, that to 

deny Waring, Cox that firm's services would result in 

substantial hardship. It also contended that as soon as 

Hatzenbuehler joined Heiskell, Donelson, efforts were 

undertaken to prevent disclosure of confidential in­

formation. The result, Waring, Cox contended, was 

that Hatzenbuehler was "screened" from Heiskell, 

Donelson's efforts on behalf of Waring, Cox, even 

before the bank asserted a claim against Waring, Cox, 
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since Heiskell, Donelson was sensitive to the potential 

for future conflict between the two. Cited as factors 

which assured the success of the screening devices 

were the size of Heiskell, Donelson (at fifty lawyers, 

the largest in Tennessee); division of the firm into six 

departments with Hatzenbuehler serving in a different 

department than the attorney handling Waring, Cox's 

defense; a prohibition against communication be­

tween Hatzenbuehler and other members of the firm 

about the litigation; and segregation of Hatzenbueh­

ler's files from other law firm files. 

In its memorandum opinion, the district court 

thoroughly discussed the issues raised by the bank's 

motion, and noted that the bank was entitled to the 

benefit of a well-recognized presumption that the 

confidences in Hatzenbuehler's possession would be 

shared with other members of the firm. The court 

concluded that "Chinese wall" screening devices 

cannot rebut the presumption of shared confidences 

when the confidences were obtained by the "quaran­

tined" lawyer from the former client while represent­

ing him in the same proceedings in which other 

members of the firm are now representing an opposing 

party. The district court also considered that disquali­

fication of Heiskell, Donelson would not unduly 

prejudice Waring, Cox, since the litigation was in its 

early stages and Waring, Cox had ample resources to 

retain new counsel and prepare for trial. 

[ 11 This court has not been confronted previously 

with the precise issue raised by this appeal.FI\! We 

conclude that the district court erred in holding that 

screening devices can never be effective to protect 

confidences under the circumstances presented above. 

FN 1. In an earlier decision, we affirmed, 

without opinion, a decision of the District 

Court for the Northern District of Ohio which 

included dictum to the effect that the pre­

sumption of shared confidences should be 

rebuttable. City of Cleveland v. Cleveland 

Elec. Illuminating, 440 F.Supp. 193, 209-10 
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(N.D. Ohio 1976), aff d without opinion, 57 3 

F.2d 1310 (6th Cir.1977), cert. denied, 435 

U.S. 996, 98 S.ct. 1648, 56 L.Ed.2d 85 

(1978). 

If the case reports are any indication, a motion to 

vicariously disqualify the law firm of an attorney who 

is himself disqualified as the result of his possession of 

the confidences of a former client, is becoming an 

increasingly popular litigation technique. Unques­

tionably, the ability to deny one's opponent the ser­

vices of capable counsel, is a potent weapon. Con­

fronted with such a motion, courts must be sensitive to 

the competing public policy interests of preserving 

client confidences and of permitting a party to retain 

counsel of his choice. 

Perhaps these motions have become more nu­

merous simply because the changing*225 nature of 

the manner in which legal services are delivered may 

present a greater number of potential conflicts. Cer­

tainly, the advent of law firms employing hundreds of 

lawyers engaging in a plethora of specialties contrasts 

starkly with the former preponderance of single prac­

titioners and small firms engaging in only a few prac­

tice specialties. In addition, lawyers seem to be mov­

ing more freely from one association to another, and 

law firm mergers have become commonplace. At the 

same time that the potential for conflicts of interest has 

increased as the result of these phenomena, the 

availability of competent legal specialists has been 

concentrated under fewer roofs. 

Consequently, these new realities must be at the 

core of the balancing of interests necessarily under­

taken when courts consider motions for vicarious 

disqualification of counsel. 

A reading of the cases would lead one to believe 

that the maintenance of confidentiality has been ac­

corded paramount effect. And this is understandable, 

given the traditional concerns of the legal profession 
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that client confidences be protected F:-:
2 and that ap­

pearances of professional impropriety be avoided.r'l3 

In addition, courts have frequently pointed to the 

prohibition against other lawyers in a firm accepting 

or continuing employment when a member of the firm 

has been required by ethical considerations to decline 
or withdraw from that employment. F:-:

4 

FN2. See Model Code of Professional Re­

sponsibility Canon 4 ( 1981 ). 

FN3. See Model Code of Professional Re­
sponsibility Canon 9 ( 1981 ). 

FN4. DR 5-105 Refusing to Accept or Con­

tinue Employment if the Interests of Another 

Client May Impair the Independent Profes­

sional Judgment of the Lawyer. 

(D) If a lawyer is required to decline em­
ployment or to withdraw from employ­

ment under a Disciplinary Rule, no partner 

or associate, or any other lawyer affiliated 

with him or his firm may accept or con­

tinue such employment. 

Model Code of Professional Responsibility 

DR 5-105 (1981). 

[2][3] In our view, the Court of Appeals for the 
Seventh Circuit has taken the most realistic view of 

the methodology to be followed in resolving com­

peting interests raised by such a disqualification mo­
tion.r"5 Where, as here, it has been demonstrated that 

disqualification will work a hardship, it is clear that 

the quarantined lawyer was privy to confidential in­

formation received from the former client now seek­
ing disqualification of the lawyer's present firm, and 

there is a substantial relationship between the subject 

matter of the prior and present representations, then 
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the district court must determine whether the pre­

sumption of shared confidences has been rebutted. 

Specifically, under the circumstances of this case as 

presented by the parties on appeal, it must be deter­
mined whether the confidences which Hatzenbuehler 

acquired from the bank in the course of his prior rep­

resentation and brought with him to Heiskell, Donel­

son, have been passed on, or are likely to be passed on, 

to members of the firm. Schiessle v. Steplzms. 717 

F.2d 417. 421 (7th Cir.1983). One method ofrebutting 

the presumption is by demonstrating that specific 

institutional screening mechanisms have been im­

plemented to effectively insulate against any flow of 

confidential information from the quarantined attor­

ney to other members of his present firm. LaSalle Nat'l 

Bank v. County of Lake, 703 F.2d 252 (7th Cir.1983). 

FN5. For examples of opinions from other 

circuits approving the potential for use of 

screening devices to rebut the presumption of 

shared confidences, see Armstrong v. McAl­

pin, 625 F.2d 433 (2d Cir.1980) (en bane); Ez 
Paintr Corp. v. Padco, Inc., 746 F.2cl 1459 

(Fecl.Cir.1984). See also Note, Federal 

Courts and Attorney Disqualification Mo­

tions: A Realistic Approach to Conflicts of 

Interest, 62 Wash.L.Rev. 863 (1987); Peter­

son, Rebuttable Presumptions and In­

tra-Firm Screening: The New Seventh Cir­

cuit Approach to Vicarious Disqualification 

of Litigation Counsel, 59 Notre Dame L.Rev. 
399 (1984); Note, The Future of the Chinese 

Wall Defense to Vicarious Disqualification 

of a Former Government Attorney's law 

Firm, 38Wash.&LccL.Rcv.151 (1981). 

Such a determination can be based on objective and 
verifiable evidence presented to the trial court and 

must be made on *226 a case-by-case basis. Factors 

appropriate for consideration by the trial court 
might include, but are not limited to, the size and 

structural divisions of the law firm involved, the 

likelihood of contact between the "infected" attor-

© 2014 Thomson Reuters. No Claim to Orig. US Gov. Works. 
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ney and the specific attorneys responsible for the 

present representation, the existence of rules which 

prevent the "infected" attorney from access to rel­

evant files or other information pertaining to the 

present litigation, or which prevent him from shar­

ing in the fees derived from such litigation. 

717 F.2d at 421 (citation omitted). 

The efficacy of screening devices, under appro­

priate circumstances, has been recognized by the 

American Bar Association in the instance of lawyers 

who leave government service to enter private prac­

tice. Model Rules of Professional Conduct Rule 1.11 

comment (1983); ABA Comm. on Ethics and Profes­

sional Responsibility, Formal Op. 342 (1975). In view 

of the changing nature of the availability of legal ser­

vices which we have noted above, we see no reason 

why the considerations which led the American Bar 

Association to approve appropriate screening for 

former government attorneys, should not apply in the 

case of private attorneys who change their association. 

The issue of disqualification was presented to the 

district court by the bank predicated upon a factual 

context in which no actual conflict in duties of legal 

representation arose until after Hatzenbuehler had 

joined Heiskell, Donelson and the bondholders' reac­

tivation of the federal court action indicated to Hat­

zenbuehler that Fort Deposit should file a third-party 

claim against Waring, Cox. He then resigned as 

counsel for the bank, which then retained Boone, 

Wellford to file the third-party claim. In essence, these 

facts presented the classic question of whether the 

entire law firm should be disqualified by a conflict of 

interest presented by the fact that a member of the firm 

had represented a certain client prior to his joining the 

firm. These were the assumed facts then, when the 

district court held that the presumption of shared 

confidences was irrebuttable, and the asumed facts 

under which we conclude that the presumption is 

rebuttable, upon sufficient proof. 

However, we are troubled by an indication in the 
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record that these may not have been the actual facts; 

that a conflict may have arisen long before Hatzen­

buehler joined Heiskell, Donelson. According to the 

"Memorandum in Opposition to Motion to Disquali­

fy" submitted by Waring, Cox to the district court: 

With this Federal Court action effectively stayed, 

Mr. Hatzenbuehler became somewhat involved in 

the [state court action] on behalf of Fort Deposit 

Bank, not yet a party to that suit. As such, he and 

Mr. Boone travelled to Fort Deposit, Alabama in 

September of 1977 and met with Bank officers and 

local counsel in order to determine whether Fort 

Deposit Bank, as a former bondholder, should opt 

into the class that counsel for the bondholders 

sought to have certified. Mr. Hatzenbuehler was 

informed by local counsel at that meeting for the 

first of many times that Fort Deposit was not inter­

ested in pursuing any third-party actions against any 

potential defendants, including bond counsel, 

Waring, Cox. 

Following a meeting with Frank Bird, counsel for 

the bondholder class, Mr. Hatzenbuehler advised 

Fort Deposit to opt into the class and thus became 

more directly involved in the Hardeman County 

suit. From that point, Mr. Hatzenbuehler partici­

pated in some discovery depositions and received 

and reviewed all pleadings filed in the [state court] 

suit. He had discussions with Frank Bird and local 

counsel of Fort Deposit, and, to a much more lim­

ited extent, its President. He also prepared responses 

to interrogatories propounded to Fort Deposit and in 

doing so reviewed all documentation the Bank had 

on file in this matter. 

The quoted material is confusing, because the 

same memorandum, when referring to Hatzenbueh­

ler's joining Heiskell, Donelson in 1984, states that 

"[s]ince at that time Fort Deposit again indicated that 

they had no interest in pursuing possible claims 

against Waring, Cox, it was concluded*227 that no 

conflict of interest would result." However, assuming 
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that during 1977 or 1978 Fort Deposit did join the 

bondholders in the state lawsuit in pursuing their claim 

against Waring, Cox, then Fort Deposit and Waring, 

Cox became opposing litigants at that time. If this 

were the case, then the fact that Fort Deposit waited 

until December 1984 to pursue a third-party claim 

against Waring, Cox in the federal suit, would be 

largely irrelevant to resolving Heiskell, Donelson's 

disqualification. Hatzenbuehler's continued represen­

tation of Fort Deposit against Waring, Cox in the state 

action while a member of Heiskell, Donelson, would 

have conflicted with another firm member's repre­

sentation of Waring, Cox. 

At the time Hatzenbuehler moved to Heiskell, 

Donelson, the state court action, in which Heiskell, 

Donelson was defending Waring, Cox against the 

bondholders, had been decided in Waring, Cox's favor 

by the Tennessee Supreme Court, but the matter was 

not yet concluded. A petition for rehearing was 

pending before the Tennessee Supreme Court, which 

was not denied until July 9, 1984. A petition for cer­

tiorari was filed with the United States Supreme 

Court, and not denied until November 1984. See Se­

curity Bank & Trust Co. v. Fabricating, Inc .. 673 

S.W.2d 860 (Tenn.1983 ), cert. denied sub nom. Po­

drog v. Waring. Cox. James. Sklar & Allen. 469 U.S. 

l 038. 105 S.Ct. 515, 83 L.Ed.2d 405 (l 984 ). 

If Hatzenbuehler represented Fort Deposit in a 

claim against Waring, Cox in the state court action, 

and he continued to represent the bank after he joined 

Heiskell, Donelson, then two attorneys in the same 

law firm were representing opposing parties in the 

state action, and an actual conflict of interests existed. 

It was conceded that Bearman and Hatzenbuehler, as 

members of the same firm, could not represent both 

Waring, Cox and Fort Deposit Bank once they became 

opposing litigants in the federal action. 

[ 41 Accordingly, upon remand, the district court 

should first determine whether Hatzenbuehler did in 

fact represent Fort Deposit in the state action in a 
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claim against Waring, Cox. If that be the case, and an 

actual conflict existed, then the order of the district 

court disqualifying Heiskell, Donelson will stand 

affirmed, in the absence of a finding by the district 

court that Fort Deposit knowingly consented to the 

level of conflict then presented by the state court ac­

tion F'.'1
6 when it agreed to continue Hatzenbuehler's 

employment after he joined Heiskell, Donelson. 

Should the district court conclude that a conflict ex­

isted in the state court action, but that Fort Deposit 

consented, then that consent should serve as a waiver 

of any objections that arose before Fort Deposit filed 

its third-party complaint against Waring, Cox. 

FN6. See Model Code of Professional Re­

sponsibility, Canon 5 ( 1981 ). 

On the other hand, should the facts be found to be 

as represented by the bank before the district court and 

by the parties on appeal-that Hatzenbuehler did not 

represent Fort Deposit in the state action in a claim 

against Waring, Cox-then the district court should 

determine whether Waring, Cox can rebut the pre­

sumption of shared confidences. It first must be 

demonstrated by Waring, Cox that Hatzenbuehler, in 

fact, has not shared the bank's confidences with others 

at Heiskell, Donelson. If the court concludes that 

confidences have not been disclosed, then, pursuing 

the inquiry suggested by the Seventh Circuit, Waring, 

Cox must demonstrate that Hatzenbuehler and 

Heiskell, Donelson, in a timely fashion, implemented 

screening procedures which will be effective in pre­

venting any disclosure of these confidences. Should 

Waring, Cox succeed in this demonstration, then the 

presumption of shared confidences will have been 

overcome and the motion for disqualification should 

be overruled. It should be noted that under this 

methodology the law's traditional concern for the 

sanctity of client confidences is maintained, since the 

former client is accorded a presumption of shared 

confidences which, if unrebutted, will dictate dis­

qualification. 
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Should the district court later be made aware of 

legitimate concerns that confidences*228 have been 

breached, it should conduct an appropriate inquiry to 

determine whether such a breach of confidence has in 

fact occurred. 

This cause is remanded to the district court for 

further proceedings consistent with this opinion. 

MERRITT, Circuit Judge, concurring in part and 

dissenting in part. 

The majority opinion highlights the troubling 

factual inconsistencies that confront us in this case. I 

agree with the majority that the case must be re­

manded to the District Court for further factual in­

quiry. I also agree with the majority that if Heiskell, 

Donelson lawyers represented opposing parties in the 

state court action, the presumption that confidences 

have been shared should be irrebuttable. 

I cannot agree, however, with the majority's res­

olution of the factual problem. The majority has es­

sentially made alternative decisions-if the District 

Court finds one set of facts to be true, we affirm; if the 

District Court finds another set of facts to be true, we 

reverse and remand. These decisions are premature. 

While the legal rationale for both decisions may be 

sound, I do not think it is good judicial practice to 

decide an appeal when we do not know what the facts 

are. The problem with this case is that we do not have 

enough facts to make a concrete, principled decision. 

Until more facts are on the record, we should not 

decide the issue whether Heiskell, Donelson will be 

allowed to rebut the presumption that confidences 

have been shared. We should decline at this point to 

adopt the rebuttable presumption test of the Seventh 

Circuit in a case in which we may not be confronted 

with the issue. 

C.A.6 (Tenn.),1988. 

Manning v. Waring, Cox, James, Sklar and Allen 

- 849 F.2d 222, 56 USLW 2721 

END OF DOCUMENT 
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215 S.W.3d 793 

(Cite as: 215 S.W.3d 793) 

Supreme Court of Tennessee, 

at Jackson. 
In re Adoption of A.M.H. 

No. W2004-01225-SC-Rl 1-PT. 

Oct. 4, 2006 Session Heard at Nashville. 

Jan. 23, 2007. 

Petition to Rehear Denied Feb. 9, 2007. 

Background: Foster parents sought termination of 

biological parents' parental rights to child and sought 

to adopt child. The Chancery Court, Shelby County, 

Robert L. Childers, Chancellor by Designation, ter~ 

minated parental rights. Parents appealed. The Court 

of Appeals, 2005 WL 3132353. affirmed. Parents 

appealed. 

Holdings: The Supreme Court, William M. Barker, 

C.J., held that: 
(I ) statute of repose did not require dismissal of bio­

logical parents' appeal of order affirming termination 

of their parental rights; 

(2) evidence was insufficient to establish that biolog­
ical parents willfully abandoned child; and 

(3) biological parents did not voluntarily transfer 

custody and guardianship of child to foster parents 
with knowledge of the consequences of their actions. 

Reversed and remanded; petition to rehear de­

nied. 
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ADOLPHO A. BIRCH, JR., Sp.J., joined. 

OPINION 
WILLIAM M. BARKER, Chief Justice. 

This case concerns the termination of parental 

rights. The appellants, who are the parents, seek re­

versal of the termination of their parental rights to the 

care and custody of their daughter, A.M.H. The trial 

court predicated the termination on the ground that the 

parents abandoned A.M.H. by willfully faiHngto visit 

her for four months. First, we hold that the statute of 
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repose under section 36- l-113( q) of the Tennessee 

Code Annotated does not deprive this Court of juris­
diction to review the termination of parental rights. 

Second, because the undisputed evidence shows that 

there was animosity between the parties and that the 

parents were actively pursuing custody of A.M.H. 
through legal proceedings during the four-month pe­

riod immediately preceding the filing of the petition 

for termination of parental rights, we hold that the trial 

court erred in finding a willful failure to visit. Finally, 
we conclude that the parents' consent to transfer cus­

tody and guardianship of A.M.H. to the appellees was 

not made with knowledge of the consequences of the 
transfer. Therefore, according the parents those supe­

rior rights to the custody of their child that constitu­

tional Jaw mandates, only a showing of substantial 

harm that threatens the child's welfare may deprive the 

parents of the care and custody of A.M.H. Although 

A.M.H. has now been with the appellees for more than 

seven years, six of those years elapsed after the *797 
parents' first unsuccessful legal filing to regain cus­

tody. Evidence that A.M.H. will be harmed from a 

change in custody because she has lived and bonded 
with the Bakers during the pendency of the litigation 

does not constitute the substantial harm required to 

prevent the parents from regaining custody. For the 
reasons discussed below, the judgment of the Court of 

Appeals is reversed, and this case is remanded to the 
chancery court to be expeditiously transferred to the 

Juvenile Court of Shelby County for the entry of an 
order that implements a plan to reunite A.M.H. with 

her natural parents. 

Facts and Procedural History 
The parents of A.M.H. are citizens of China. Prior 

to the child's birth, her father, Shao-Qiang ("Jack") 

He, was a tenured college professor in China. He 

moved to the United States on a student visa in 1995 to 

attend Arizona State University. In 1997, he enrolled 

in an economics doctorate program at the University 

of Memphis and was awarded a scholarship and a 

graduate assistant position with a stipend. The mother 
of A.M.H., Qiii -("Casey") Luo, although unmarried, 
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obtained a visa as the father's wife. The mother arrived 
in the United States on June 30, 1998; the parents did 

not marry immediately. The mother speaks little Eng­

lish and has used an interpreter throughout these 

proceedings. 

The mother became pregnant in July of 1998. 
Soon after, a student at the University of Memphis 

filed a complaint with the university alleging that the 

father had attempted to rape her. Although the father 

consistently denied the allegations and was eventually 

acquitted by a jury, this charge had severe conse­
quences. Because of the charge, the father was ter­

minated from his graduate assistant position in Octo­
ber of 1998. With no job or stipend, the parents had 

very little income and no health insurance; in late 

1998, they decided to meet with a birth-parent coun­

selor at Mid-South Christian Services (hereinafter 
"Mid-South"). At the trial of this termination petition, 

the birth-parent counselor from Mid-South testified 

that the parents initially expressed a desire that their 

unborn child be adopted by a financially stable family. 
The father testified that the parents were seeking so­

cial services when they went to Mid-South and did not 

ask to place their child for adoption. This is consistent 
with the testimony of the Mid-South counselor, who 

testified that she discussed with the parents placing 
A.M.H. in foster care through the Tennessee De­
partment of Children's Services but advised against 

this option because of the potential "risks" and "dif­
ficulties." The Mid-South counselor testified that she 

told the parents, "once the child went into the care of 
the State, the child could be there for a Jong time" 

because "there are certain things that have to be in 
place before [the Department of Children's Services] 

returns the child to the biological parents." The father 
further testified that the parents agreed to consider 

adoption as an option at the counselor's suggestion. On 

December 1, 1998, the parents met with a couple 

interested in adopting a child through Mid-South. 

On January 28~J999, A.M.H. was born. Shortly 
after the birth, the mother told the Mid-South coun-
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selor that A.M.H. was not to be placed for adoption. 

The hospital records verify that A.M.H. was not to be 

placed for adoption. Instead, the parents desired help 

with the care of their child for six to twelve months 

while they tried to regain financial stability. Conse­

quently, on February 24, 1999, when A.M.H. was four 

weeks old, the parents went to juvenile court and 

explained that they could not afford to care for A.M.H. 

and wanted temporary foster care. Rather than con­

tacting*798 the Department of Children's Services, 

the juvenile court officer telephoned Mid-South, 

which agreed to provide three months of foster care 

for A.M.H. That same day, the parents entered into an 

"interim care agreement" with Mid-South that spe­

cifically stated that the agreement did not terminate 

parental rights. A.M.H. was placed in the foster care 

home of the appellees, Jerry L. Baker and Louise K. 

Baker, the couple now seeking the termination of 

parental rights and the adoption of A.M.H. The par­

ents of A.M.H. and the Bakers orally agreed that the 

parents could visit A.M.H. once a week. The father of 

A.M.H. testified to the following: 

I was thinking that at that time, you know, we did 

not have health insurance for our child, and we had 

the darkest time-hardship. So I would think that 

for the benefit of the child, maybe it's a good idea to 

stay with the Bakers for three months because the 

Bakers told me-Mr. Baker told me very clearly 

that they are Christian families generation after 

generation. We are just like brothers and sisters, and 

that's God's will, for him to get to know me. So I 

was very moved to tears by Mr. Baker's remarks. 

After placing A.M.H. with the Bakers, the parents 

visited her regularly in the Bakers' home, consistently 

bringing food and gifts and taking photographs at 

every visit. On one occasion, the parents were allowed 

to take A.M.H. out of the Bakers' home for the day. 

The father had obtained a part-time job with the 

University of Memphis, and, despite the absence of an 

order requiring the parents to provide child support to 
_.,~·--

Mid-South or the Bakers, the parents attempted to 
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give the Bakers $300 in cash for the care of A.M.H.; 

the Bakers would not accept the money. In April of 

1999, the father was arrested on the attempted rape 

charge. Although the father was released the next day, 

he was fired from his part-time job with the university, 

which he had obtained after losing his graduate as­

sistant position. After the father's firing, the parents 

were living on the approximate $400 a month that the 

mother earned as a waitress. 

Because their financial condition was not im­

proving, the parents decided to send A.M.H. to China 

to have relatives care for her temporarily. The father 

testified that in May of 1999, Mr. Baker told the father 

that it was a bad idea to send A.M.H. to China and that 

the Bakers would keep A.M.H. until the father grad­

uated from the university. The Bakers testified that the 

father asked them to adopt A.M.H., but the mother 

opposed the adoption. In a meeting at the Bakers' 

home, the Bakers told the father that they were un­

willing to keep A.M.H. as long-term foster parents but 

wanted to adopt her. According to the Bakers' testi­

mony, because the parents of A.M.H. would not agree 

to an adoption, they entered into an oral agreement 

after the father of A.M.H. led them in prayer and the 

parties discussed the issue. Under the oral agreement, 

the Bakers would raise A.M.H. until she was eighteen, 

and the parents of A.M.H. would retain their parental 

rights. The Mid-South counselor testified that, in a 

meeting with Mid-South's attorney and the Bakers on 

May 19, 1999, the father of A.M.H. stated that the 

mother and he wanted to continue the custody ar­

rangement but maintain their parental rights. The 

Bakers then pursued a legal change of custody. 

On June 2, 1999, the father of A.M.H., the Bak­

ers, the Mid-South counselor, and Mid-South's at­

torney met to explain to the father the legal effect of 

granting the Bakers temporary custody. According to 

Mrs. Baker's testimony, the father was told by the 

attorney "that this could go for one year or it could go 

for 18 years." Mi<!-:-*799 South's attorney testified that 

he informed the parents that by giving up custody, 
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"unless everybody consents to give the custody back 

... anybody that gives up even temporary custody takes 

a risk that ... the court may not give custody back." He 

further testified: 

And I'm sure I would have given some hypotheticals 

about what some of those reasons [for not returning 

custody to the parents] might be; you know, that if 

the couple that wanted custody back [engaged in] 

drug use or alcohol use or some kind of abuse or not 

having a place for the child to live or not-you 

know, those sort of things could prevent you from 

getting custody back. 

On June 4, 1999, Mid-South's attorney went with 

the Bakers and the parents of A.M.H. to the Juvenile 

Court of Shelby County to obtain a consent order 

transferring custody of A.M.H. to the Bakers. A ju­

venile court officer drafted the "Petition for Custody" 

and a "Consent Order Awarding Custody." The con­
sent order does not mention child support or visitation. 

A juvenile court interpreter, the juvenile court officer, 

and Mid-South's attorney spoke with the mother pri­

vately before she signed the order; the mother was told 

that the order would enable the Bakers to obtain health 

insurance for A.M.H. The juvenile court officer who 

drafted the consent order testified that the mother was 
very concerned that the arrangement be temporary and 

that the parents would continue to have "open visita­

tion" with A.M.H. through the duration of the Bakers' 

custody. 

Despite the mother's concerns that the arrange­

ment be temporary, the juvenile court officer added a 

guardianship provision to the consent order so that the 

Bakers could obtain medical insurance for A.M.H. 

Mrs. Baker stated that there was no discussion of 

guardianship during the meeting between the Bakers 

and the parents of A.M.H. prior to the execution of the 

consent order in juvenile court. 

The Bakers testified that as part of the custody-
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agreement, the parents agreed that the Bakers would 

raise A.M.H. until she was eighteen years old and that 

the child would refer to the Bakers as "mommy" and 

"daddy." Contrary to the Bakers' testimony, the juve­

nile court officer testified that the parents were not 

agreeing that the Bakers could raise A.M.H. until she 

was eighteen years old. Indeed, the juvenile court 

officer testified that the mother "was fairly adamant 

that at some point she wanted her child back." The 

mother testified as follows: "I was told I can get my 

daughter back at any time. I asked him three or four 

times about that." Finally, the juvenile court inter­

preter, Pastor Kenny Yao, testified that the mother 

understood the agreement to be temporary and for the 

purpose of obtaining medical insurance for A.M.H. 

An order transferring custody and awarding guardi­

anship was entered by consent; there was no court 

hearing on the matter. 

After the consent order was signed on June 4, 

1999, Mrs. Baker began keeping notes after each 

weekly visit by the parents. Her first entry was on June 

5, 1999, when she wrote, "Gained custody on June 

4th, 1999." She documented the date, the exact time of 

arrival, and the time of departure of the parents after 
every visit. She documented the gifts the parents 

brought (such as food, formula, diapers, and books) 

and the acts of the parents, noting if they were atten­

tive to A.M.H. or engaged in what she considered 

misconduct (such as giving the baby "inappropriate" 

things like a small necklace). Although the notes 

written by Mrs. Baker characterize the father as 
"pushy" and the mother as emotional, the notes gen­

erally portray the parents striving in the face of *800 
fairly adverse conditions to maintain a relationship 

with their child, familiarize her with their Chinese 

culture, and ensure her health and safety. 

On September 20, 1999, the University of 

Memphis suspended the father from taking further 

classes for the remainder of the academic year and 

required him to complete sexual abuse counseling. 

Because of the suspension, the father lost his status as 
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a student and was subject to deportation. A university 

representative testified that after the suspension end­

ed, the father returned to school in the fall of 2000 and 

completed his degree requirements; however, because 

he owed the university money, the father had not been 

awarded his degree at the time of trial. 

On October 3, 1999, the parents asked the Bakers 

if they could take A.M.H. out for the day on the next 

Sunday. The Bakers refused, and the mother began 

crying. Mrs. Baker's notes for that visit include the 

following: 

We would like to get visits to every other week. We 

felt like they would wean away, but the last 2 visits 

we could see Casey [the mother] is wanting to come 

more. If Jack [the father] confronts us with the visit 

we are going to tell him this is the way its going to 

be and set rules for him. He is very pushy and 
overbearing. 

The mother, through an interpreter at the trial, 

described her impressions during this time period as 

follows: 

At [the time of the custody hearing, the Bakers] 

pretend to be really nice. I didn't know it was a trap, 

but after I signed the documents, they tear their 
pretended face .... In the first three months when we 

went and visit our daughter, they were really nice to 

us .... When they tricked us to sign the temporary 

custody order, they immediately tear their pretend 

face, and they picked the most inconvenient time for 

us [to visit] and they tried to shrink the time [of the 

visits] as short as they can. 

Mrs. Baker testified that she told the parents that 

A.M.H. could go out with the parents when she was 

old enough to make a decision on whether she wanted 

to go out with the parents or not. The juvenile court 

officer testified that during this time period, the par­

ents contacted her several times complaining about 

their visitation arrangement and expressing their de-
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sire to regain custody of A.M.H. 

In November of 1999, when A.M.H. was ten 

months old, the father of A.M.H. asked Mr. Baker to 

return A.M.H. to the parents' custody. Mr. Baker re­

sponded that he and Mrs. Baker did not want to return 

A.M.H. and told the father not to mention his request 

to Mrs. Baker because she was pregnant. Mr. Baker 

also stated that he would hold the father responsible if 

Mrs. Baker had a miscarriage because she was worried 

about the custody situation. The father testified that he 

felt threatened and intimidated. The parents decided to 

wait for the Bakers' child to be born before pursuing 

the return of their daughter. The relationship between 

the parties continued to deteriorate; nevertheless, the 

parents continued to visit consistently and bring gifts. 

On February 21, 2000, the Bakers' child was born. 

Also, during this time period, the mother of A.M.H. 

became pregnant with her second child, and the father 

was contacted by immigration officials. 

On May 3, 2000, the parents went to the Juvenile 

Court of Shelby County and signed a petition alleging 
a change in circumstances and seeking custody of 

A.M.H. Mr. Baker contacted the father and requested 

a meeting; they met but could not reach an agreement 

as to custody or visitation. The Bakers contacted 
Mid-South's attorney to represent them at the custody 

*801 hearing and to pursue the termination of the 

parents' rights to A.M.H. The parents, who were still 

having financial difficulties, did not have an attorney 

at the hearing to regain custody. At the hearing on 

June 28, 2000, the Court Appointed Special Advocate 

submitted a report recommending that the Bakers 

retain custody and the parents be allowed supervised 

visitation twice a week for four hours each visit. The 

father told the referee that they planned to send their 

daughter to China to live with relatives. After briefly 

questioning the father, the referee denied the petition. 

Upon Mid-South's attorney's advice, the Bakers did 

not file a petition to terminate parental rights at this 

time. 
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The parents did not appeal the custody order. 

However, they continued to visit their daughter at the 

Bakers' home despite the increase in animosity be­

tween the parties. During that period, the father began 

working in Georgia and could not attend all of the 

visits with A.M.H. On August 1, 2000, after the 

mother refused Mrs. Baker's request that she leave one 

of these visits by a certain time, the police were called. 

After this incident, the father quit his job in Georgia 

because he feared their visitation with A.M.H. was in 

jeopardy. The parents asked the Bakers for a visit with 

A.M.H. at a restaurant rather than at the Bakers' home; 

the Bakers refused. However, after the mother of 

A.M.H. gave birth to her second child on October 28, 

2000, the Bakers were very helpful to the parents of 

A.M.H., providing transportation and food and facil­

itating the parents' care of their baby boy. 

Prior to January 28, 2001, A.M.H.'s second 

birthday, the parents requested to take their daughter 

for a family picture; they invited the Bakers to go with 

them and made an appointment at a photography stu­

dio. When the parents arrived with their son at the 

Bakers' home, they were told A.M.H. could not go 
because she was sick. The father testified to the fol­

lowing: 

Number one, that was our child-our first daugh­

ter's birthday-second birthday. That was a special 

day. Number two, according to Chinese culture, on 

birthday, family picture together is of much signif­

icance-whole family .... That was such a special 

day for us. We made appointment. If she was sick or 

if you had a doctor's appointment, why didn't you 
call me and tell me in advance, one day or two days, 

so that we made a rescheduled appointment. ... They 

knew my phone number. So I was upset. I said, 

"Okay, today, we could not accept any more ex­

cuse." That's what I said to them .... Jerry Baker was 

so-he was, oh, so upset. He was not very happy .... I 

said, "Today, we cannot accept any more excuses. 

We want the-we want to take our daughter to the 
~·»--

studio for family to get a picture made, period." 

Page 12 

That's what I said, "Period," and he noticed that I 

was very pushy, very insistent, and he said, "you've 

got to leave here. You've got to leave here." I said, 

"I won't-not today, I won't leave here. Until we 

have picture made, I won't leave here." And then he 

said, "I'm going to call the police." I said, "Call the 

police. I won't leave here." 

The police were called, and the officer told the 

parents not to return to the Bakers' house or they 

would be arrested. The Bakers' answers to interroga­

tories state that the parents were instructed by the 

police "not to return to the home of the Bakers." The 

police officer testified at trial that, even though it was 

late afternoon when he arrived at the Bakers' home, he 

would have told the parents not to return "that day." 

There were no further visits. On June 20, 2001, four 

months and five days later, the Bakers filed a petition 

*802 to terminate parental rights to A.M.H. This 

four-month lapse in visitation is the ground upon 

which the chancery court found abandonment of 

A.M.H. and terminated the parents' rights to their 

daughter. 

Although the parents no longer pursued a rela­

tionship with A.M.H. through visits in the Bakers' 

home, they soon contacted the juvenile court and 

asked for assistance in regaining custody of A.M.H. 

On February 15, 2001, eighteen days after their last 

visit with A.M.H., the parents sent a letter to the ju­

venile court and to the media setting forth the history 

of the case and stating that they wanted A.M.H. re­

turned so that they could return to China. The father 

testified that they went to juvenile court twice between 
February and April. On April 9, 2001, the parents 

again went to juvenile court; the mother was sobbing. 

The parents told the juvenile court officer that they did 

not understand what they were doing when they 

signed the consent order. The court officer prepared a 

petition to regain custody for the parents. The Bakers 
were notified of the petition on May 4, 2001.FNl Mr. 

Baker telephoned the father, and they met. In the 
-~"-·-

meeting, the father said that he wanted his daughter to 
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be returned and that she could visit with the Bakers 

twice a week. Mr. Baker told the father that he would 

not agree to returning A.M.H. The father then offered 

to leave custody with the Bakers if he and the mother 

could bring A.M.H. home one day every other week. 
Ultimately, no agreement was reached. 

FN 1 . The petition to regain custody was not 

stamped as filed until May 29, 2001. 

In May of 2001, the parents of A.M.H. sent their 

seven-month-old son to China to live with relatives 

because they feared that if the father was convicted of 

attempted rape, their son would be taken from them. 

The parents, both of whom now worked in restaurants, 

sent the relatives money every few months for their 

son's care. (On December 1, 2003, the son returned 

from China to live with the parents.) 

On June 6, 2001, the parents appeared in juvenile 

court for the hearing on their custody petition. Had the 
matter been heard that day as scheduled, the 

four-month period required for statutory abandonment 

would not have run. The hearing was rescheduled, 

however, to accommodate the Bakers' attorney; un­
derstandably, the parents were very sad and disap­

pointed. The parents appeared for the rescheduled 

hearing on June 22, 2001. The father testified, "We 

went there on time-actually, we went there before 
eight o'clock, my wife and I. We were very eager. We 

went there. We were ready to have the hearing, and we 
thought we could have our child back that day." 

However, two days previously (which was four 

months and five days after the parents' last visit with 
A.M.H.), the Bakers had filed a petition for adoption 

and termination of parental rights in chancery court. 

Consequently, rather than hear the modification of the 

custody petition, the juvenile court transferred the 

custody case to chancery court; the father testified, 

"Of course, my heart was broken." The chancery court 

did not rule on this custody petition until its final order 
terminating parental rig,l1.ts.F:>12 
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FN2. A third petition for modification of the 

consent order awarding custody was filed by 

the parents on September 12, 2003; it was 

denied by the chancery court on May 12, 
2004. 

The filing of the petition for adoption and termi­

nation of parental rights by the Bakers began chancery 

court proceedings that would span thirty-two months 

and generate a technical record containing eleven 
volumes of motions, responses, and orders. The pro­

cedural history recounted *803 in this opinion omits 
much of the actual litigation. The grounds alleged in 

the original petition seeking termination of the parents' 

rights were the parents' abandonment of A.M.H. by 

willfully failing to visit and the parents' abandonment 

of A.M.H. by willfully failing to support the child 

financially. The petition was later amended to assert 

grounds of termination based on the father's lack of 

legal status as a parent, the parents' mental incompe­

tence, and the persistence of conditions preventing the 

child's reunification with the parents. The parents 
hired an attorney, and the Bakers continued to be 

represented by Mid-South's attorney until they hired a 

separate attorney in September of 2001. A guardian ad 

litem was appointed; she recommended that the par­
ents not be allowed to visit with A.M.H. until the 

adoption proceedings were completed."N3 Around 

October of 2001, the guardian ad litem contacted Dr. 
David B. Goldstein, a clinical psychologist, and re­

quested that he perform an evaluation of A.M.H. Dr. 

Goldstein testified that the guardian ad !item asked 
him to evaluate A.M.H. in order to address "the effects 

of removing a child from a well-bonded family situa­

tion and the effects of removing a child from their 
culture and placing them in a different culture." The 

court then appointed Dr. Goldstein to evaluate A.M.H. 

and the parties. 

FN3. Her recommendation was based on the 

fact that the parenJ§_bad not seen A.M.H. for 

six months. 
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On January 7, 2002, the parents of A.M.H. mar­

ried. The father took a DNA test that established that 

he was A.M.H.'s father. And during this time, the 

mother became pregnant with a third child. On Feb­

ruary 7, 2002, upon the guardian ad litem's motion, the 

chancery court ordered the parents to surrender 

A.M.H.'s passport to the court and, upon the Bakers' 

motion, ordered the parents to pay $15,000 to the court 

for the guardian ad litem's fees, the DNA test, and the 

costs of the psychological evaluations. The father 

testified that it was impossible for the parents to pay 

the ordered $15,000 in fees, "especially after [the 
Bakers' attorney] subpoenaed us and all the local 

Chinese restaurants, and my wife lost her job as a 

waitress." The parents did not produce the passport. 

On February 8, 2002, the court entered an order 

(drafted by the Bakers' attorney) to show cause why 

the parents should not be found in contempt for re­

fusing to surrender the passport. The order also ap­

pointed the Bakers as A.M.H.'s guardians as defined in 

section 36-1-102(24) and (25) of the Tennessee Code 

Annotated and ordered that the parents have no con­

tact with their daughter. 

None of the witnesses could explain why the 

court ordered that the parents have no contact with 
their daughter. It may have been intended as a means 

of forcing the parents to surrender A.M.H.'s passport; 
however, it is also possible that the court ordered no 

contact upon the advice of the guardian ad !item. The 

guardian ad !item testified that she did not recommend 

visitation because "the status quo was that the child 

had not seen her biological parents in a number of 

months, I didn't believe that throwing the child into 

something different than the status quo was neces­

sarily in her best interest.'' The guardian ad litem 

continued to oppose visitation and reunification with 

the parents throughout the proceedings. She believed 

that A.M.H. was attached to the Bakers and consid­

ered them to be her parents, although the guardian ad 

!item had never seen A.M.H. with her biological 

parents. She further stated that she had read a book 
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about *804 Chinese girls being placed in orphanages 

and consequently was concerned that the parents 

wanted to return to China: 

From the very beginning of the case, it was very 

clear to me that [the parents'] intention was that if 

the child were returned to them, they wanted to go 

back to China. They have never said anything dif­

ferent than that. They have always said that when 

this case is over they would like to take her back .... I 

honestly can't tell the Court today I know to an ab­

solute certainty what kind of life she would have 

there. This book that I read caused me some con­
cerns. 

The parents ultimately paid the $15,000. On 

February 20, 2002, the parents filed a motion for vis­

itation. On February 22, the court ordered the parents 

incarcerated for failing to surrender A.M.H.'s pass­

port; the parents surrendered the passport. Although 

there was a preliminary hearing on the matter in 

March 2002, the court did not rule on the motion for 

visitation, stating that it assumed there must have been 

a reason for the no contact order and that it was unable 

to decide the issue without more evidence. At the 

hearing, the court expressed concern about the parents' 

interest in press coverage. The father testified: 

You asked me why [we contacted the press]. Be­

cause at that time, I knew very clearly that I could 

not get justice from [the judge]. I could not get it, 

and I was in a desperate situation. All I could turn to 

for help was the media. I was trying to get the me­

dia's attention in order to help me to get my daughter 

back. 

In July of 2002, Dr. Goldstein submitted a report 

that found that A.M.H., who by this time was three 

years old and had not seen her parents in over a year, 

considered the Bakers her psychological parents and 

concluded that a child who experiences loss in early 

childhood is at a greater risk of developing serious 
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psychological disorders. On September 9, 2002, the 

parents of A.M.H. had their third child, a daughter. 

In February of 2003, the father of A.M.H. was 

acquitted by a jury of the charges stemming from the 

student's complaint of attempted rape. Several mo­

tions were filed during this time period, and this Court 

specially designated a chancellor to preside over the 

case. On September 23, 2003, the parents were al­

lowed a visit with A.M.H., which was monitored by 

Dr. Goldstein. The video of this session, in which the 

parents see their child for the first time in 

two-and-a-half years, shows the love the parents have 

for their child; understandably, A.M.H. does not react 

to them as parental figures. On September 29, 2003, 

the parents filed another motion for visitation. On 

November 7, 2003, the parents filed a renewed motion 

for visitation. On December 1, 2003, the parents saw 

their daughter with the Bakers' children at a 

Wal-Mart. The mother said to the children, "That's 

my daughter. Give me my daughter." The oldest Baker 

child grabbed A.M.H. and screamed for help; the 

police were called. On January 27, 2004, the desig­

nated chancellor ruled on the motions for visitation 

and ordered that the parents were to have no contact 

with A.M.H. until after the trial. 

On February 23, 2004, almost three years after the 

parents filed their petition to regain custody in juvenile 

court, the trial on the petition to modify the custody 

order and the petition for adoption and termination of 

parental rights began. At the time of trial, because Mr. 

Baker had lost his prior job, the Bakers were $374,829 

in debt, paid $1, 795 per month for rent, were liable for 

loan payments on three cars, and had approximately 

$1,000 in their checking account. Mr. Baker testi­

fied*805 that he currently was earning $110,000 per 

year. The father of A.M.H. was earning $2,300 per 

month as the manager of a restaurant; the mother of 

A.M.H. was staying at home with their youngest 

daughter; and their son was in day care so that he 

could learn English. 
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Several psychologists testified at the trial. None 

of these witnesses opined that harm would result from 

continued contact between A.M.H. and her parents or 

from expanded visitation. Dr. Goldstein, the 

court-appointed expert, testified that he did not con­

duct evaluations of the child or the parties (even 

though evaluations were ordered) and that he did not 

investigate the attachment between A.M.H. and her 

parents prior to writing his report. On September 23, 

2003, he did monitor the videotaped session with the 

parents and A.M.H. Dr. Goldstein testified, "I did 

assume that there was very little attachment to the 

[parents] based upon the information that I had and 

based also on my knowledge of psychological de­

velopment." Dr. Goldstein did not bring all of his 

notes to the trial. He testified that he was unable to say 

whether visitation should take place and unable to give 

any opinion as to custody. Dr. Goldstein limited his 

opinion to the best interest of the child, and even as to 

that topic, he would not render an opinion on whether 

having no further contact with her parents would be in 

A.M.H.'s best interest. The chancery court found Dr. 

Goldstein to be "highly qualified, highly respected .... 

Very knowledgeable, honest and a forthright witness." 

At the trial, the parents of A.M.H. introduced 

evidence from three psychologists and a Chinese 

culture expert to refute the inference that the parents 

intended for the Bakers to raise A.M.H., to refute the 

opinion that A.M.H. had no attachment to her parents, 

and to show that the parents presented no abnormal 

psychological traits. The psychological experts of­

fered by the parents pointed out what they perceived to 

be flaws in Dr. Goldstein's process and report. Dr. 

John Robert Hutson testified that he had reviewed Dr. 

Goldstein's deposition and report and that Dr. Gold­

stein did no evaluations of the parties. Dr. Hutson 

opined that there should be ongoing contact between 

the parents and A.M.H. Both Dr. Hutson and another 

psychologist, Dr. John Victor Ciocca, reviewed the 

video of the parents visiting with A.M.H. and found 

that the child responded favorably to the parents and 

-u1e parents acted appropriately. The testimony offered 
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by the parents was critical of the court's prevention of 

visitation with the child and of Dr. Goldstein's failure 

to perform certain evaluations. However, the court 

found this testimony to be "of little assistance to the 

court" because Drs. Hutson and Ciocca had never 

personally interviewed A.M.H. 

The Chinese culture expert testified to the im­

portance of "family" to the Chinese and the practice 

among Chinese students of allowing family members 

to care for their children temporarily. The chancery 

court found that the Chinese expert lacked credibility, 

despite similar testimony given by Pastor Kenny Yao, 

who the court found to be honest and without bias. 

Pastor Yao, who served as the mother's interpreter on 

several occasions (including in juvenile court when 

the petition to transfer temporary custody to the Bak­

ers was drafted) testified as follows: "There is sub­

stantial difference between temporary custody and 

adoption in the Chinese culture. Adoption is you're 

giving the parental rights of the baby ... to someone 

else .... But temporary custody is someone is helping to 

take care of the baby while you are unable to take care 

of the baby." He also testified that when the consent 

order was signed by the mother in juvenile court, he 

understood and translated the term "temporary*806 

custody" to the parents as follows: "[C]ustody means 

taking care. Temporary means not permanent." 

Additionally, the parents introduced expert tes­

timony from Dr. Yih-Jia Chang, who spoke fluent 

Mandarin Chinese. Dr. Chang performed a psycho­

logical evaluation (based on Chinese norms) on 

A.M.H.'s parents. She testified that they were both 

within the normal range. Dr. Chang testified that the 

father "may have a tendency to please others," "tends 

to go along with society," has a tendency to "seldom 

show dissatisfaction with authority," and appreciates 

various forms of artistic expression. She testified that 

the mother's impulse control was within the normal 

range and that she had a "high energy level." Dr. 

Chang's report also states that it is a common practice 
--~,,-

in China for a child to be placed temporarily in the 
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care of extended family. Dr. Chang testified that she 

believed the evaluations were valid because the an­

swers were consistent with her determinations while 

meeting with each parent. Dr. Chang testified that the 

evaluations were valid even though each parent was 

left alone in the room to fill out the evaluation ques­

tions while she met with the other parent and even 

though the answer sheets of both parents were left in 

the room. The chancery court ruled that "the under­

lying facts or data relied upon by Dr. Chang in form­

ing her opinion" regarding the parents' mental health 

"indicate a lack of trustworthiness"; accordingly, the 

court excluded Dr. Chang's testimony. 

Finally, the parents introduced several witnesses 

to counter the Bakers' portrayal of the father as ma­

nipulative and the mother as unreasonable and overly 

emotional. One of these witnesses, who had previ­

ously adopted two Chinese children through 

Mid-South and for whom the mother had worked as a 

babysitter, testified that the mother was very good 

with children and a nice person. On 

cross-examination, after establishing that this witness 

thought highly of Mid-South, financially supported 

Mid-South through donations, and knew that the 

Bakers would be a good placement for a child if they 

had been approved by Mid-South, the Bakers' attor­

ney asked for the witness's opinion on what the out­

come of the case should be. The witness stated: 

I believe that [the parents] should have [A.M.H.]. I 

know it will cause hurt and pain no matter what 

happens, and I feel for all concerned, but I do think 

that [the parents] deserve to have their child back. ... 

[K]nowing [the parents] from their relationship with 

my children and myself, I just would find it in the 

child's best interest to go back to her birth parents. 

After considering this evidence, the chancery 

court concluded that the parents are manipulative and 

dishonest people who appeared to have no intent to 

raise A.M.H. but have used the child fr_orn birth for 

financial gain and to avoid deportation. The chancery 
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court found that the parents willfully abandoned 

A.M.H. by failing to visit or provide support for the 

four months immediately preceding the filing of the 

Bakers' petition to terminate parental rights. The court 

concluded that it would be in A.M.H. 's best interest to 

terminate parental rights and allow her to remain with 

the Bakers. The chancery court also concluded that the 

father was not the legal father of A.M.H. at the time 

that the petition to terminate parental rights was filed 

and terminated his parental rights under five of the six 

grounds under section 36-1-113(g)(9)(A) of the 

Tennessee Code Annotated. F'H The chancery court 

rejected all of *807 the other grounds for termination 

raised by the Bakers. Further, the chancery court ruled 

that the petition to modify custody filed in the juvenile 

court on May 29, 2001, "is not well taken and should 

be denied and dismissed." The petition for adoption 

was held in abeyance. 

FN4. Subsection 36-l-l 13(g)(9)(A) pro­

vides as follows: 

The parental rights of any person who ... is 

not the legal parent or guardian of a child 

or who is described in§ 36-l-l l 7(b) or (c) 

may also be terminated based upon any 

one (1) or more of the following additional 

grounds: 

(I) The person has failed, without good 

cause or excuse, to pay a reasonable share 

of prenatal, natal, and postnatal expenses 

involving the birth of the child in accord­

ance with the person's financial means 

promptly upon the person's receipt of no­

tice of the child's impending birth; 

(ii) The person has failed, without good 

cause or excuse, to make reasonable and 

consistent payments for the support of the 

child in accordance with the child support 

guidelines promulgated-by the department 

Page 17 

pursuant to § 36-5-10 l ; 

(iii) The person has failed to seek reason­

able visitation with the child, and if visita­

tion has been granted, has failed to visit 

altogether, or has engaged in only token 

visitation, as defined in § 36-1-102( I )( C); 

(iv) The person has failed to manifest an 

ability and willingness to assume legal and 

physical custody of the child; 

(v) Placing custody of the child in the 

person's legal and physical custody would 

pose a risk of substantial harm to the 

physical or psychological welfare of the 

child; or 

(vi) The person has failed to file a petition 

to establish paternity of the child within 

thirty (30) days after notice of alleged pa­

ternity by the child's mother, or as required 

in § 36-2-3180), or after making a claim 

of paternity pursuant to § 36-l-117(c)(3). 

Tenn.Code Ann. § 36-1-113 (2005). 

The Court of Appeals reversed the chancery 

court's ruling that the parents had abandoned A.M.H. 

in willfully failing to support her; it also reversed the 

chancery court's ruling that the father was not the legal 

parent of A.M.H. when the termination petition was 

filed. However, the Court of Appeals affirmed the 

termination based on the parents' willful failure to visit 

their daughter for four months and held that termina­

tion was in the best interest of A.M.H. Judge Holly M. 

Kirby dissented, stating that she would reverse the 

termination of the parents' rights to A.M.H. because 

the failure to visit was not willful. The Bakers do not 

appeal the lower courts' rulings on the unsuccessful 

grounds for termination. Consequently, the sole 

ground for termination presented i:iCthis Court is 
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abandonment grounded on the parents' willful failure 

to visit A.M.H. for a period of four consecutive 

months immediately preceding the filing of the peti­

tion to terminate parental rights. 

Analysis 

1. Jurisdiction 

[I] The Bakers argue that this appeal should be 

dismissed under section 36-l-l 13(q) of the Tennes­

see Code Annotated, a statute of repose. The statute 

provides as follows: 

After the entry of the order terminating parental 

rights, no party to the proceeding, nor anyone 

claiming under such party, may later question the 

validity of the termination proceeding by reason of 

any defect or irregularity therein, jurisdictional or 

otherwise, but shall be fully bound thereby, except 

based upon a timely appeal of the termination order 

as may be allowed by law; and in no event, for any 

reason, shall a termination of parental rights be 

overturned by any court or collaterally attacked by 

any person or entity after one (1) year from the date 

of the entry of the final order of termination. This 

provision is intended as a statute of repose. 

Tenn.Code Ann. § 36-l-l 13(q) (2005). The 

Bakers argue that this Court does not have jurisdiction 

because the appeal of this matter has not been com­

pleted within one *808 year of the entry of the chan­

cery court's order terminating parental rights. 

[21[31[41[5] The primary rule in construing stat­

utes is to ascertain and give effect to the intention or 

purpose of the legislature as expressed in the statute. 

State ex rel. Rector v. Wilkes. 222 Tenn. 384, 436 

S.W.2d 425. 427 (1968). Unless the statute is am­

biguous, legislative intent is determined "from the 

natural and ordinary meaning of the statutory lan­

guage within the context of the entire statute without 

any forced or subtle construction that would extend or 

limit the--smtute's meaning." State v. Flemming, 19 
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S.W.3cl 195, 197 (Tenn.2000); see also Sallee v. 

Barrett. 171 S.W.3d 822. 828 (Tenn.2005); Austin v. 
Memphis Publ'g Co., 655 S.W.2d 146, 148-49 

(Tenn.1983). A statute is ambiguous if the natural and 

ordinary meaning of the language used may be inter­

preted to reach contrary results, "requir[ing] resort 

elsewhere to ascertain legislative intent." Austin, 655 

S.W.2d at 148: LeTellier v. LeTellier. 40 S.W.3d 490, 

498 (Tenn.200 I). Where the statutory language is not 

ambiguous, however, the plain and ordinary meaning 

of the statute must be given effect. Calaway ex rel. 

Calaway v. Schucker. 193 S.W.3d 509. 516 

(Tenn.2005). 

Subsection 36-1-113(q) of the Tennessee Code 

Annotated is not ambiguous. The statute plainly states 

that the trial court's "order" terminating parental rights 

may not be challenged by a party to the proceeding 

"except based upon a timely appeal of the termination 

order as may be allowed by law." Tenn.Code Ann. § 

36-l-l 13(q) (emphasis added). Here, the parents of 

A.M.H. timely appealed the order of termination; 

therefore, they are allowed to question the validity of 

the termination proceedings. Subsection 36-1-113(q) 

further states that a termination order may not be 

overturned or collaterally attacked after one year from 

the date of the entry of "the final order." A judgment 

does not become final until "all direct appeals have 

been exhausted including an application for appeal or 

for certiorari to the Tennessee or United States su­

preme court." Cf Tenn.Code Ann. § 39-17-90 I (5) 

(2003). Because the one-year limitation under sub­

section 36-1-113( q) does not begin to run until the 

entry of a final order, we conclude the language used 

in the statute does not indicate an intent to affect a 

parent's ability to timely pursue a direct appeal. 

[6] Moreover, the legislature specifies that the 

"provision is intended as a statute of repose." ld. § 

36-1-l 13(q). A statute of repose does not limit the 

time for appellate courts to hear and rule on a case that 

has been appealed timely; Fl'<.5 a statute of repose limits 

the time withi; which an action may be filed. Cata-
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way, l 93 S.W.3d at 515: Pe!lley v. Honda Motor Co .. 

31 S. W .3d l 81, 184 (Tenn.2000). Therefore, by des­

ignating subsection 36-1-113( q) "a statute of repose," 

the legislature demonstrated an intent that the statute 

serve as an absolute limit on the time in which a 
challenge to a final order of termination may be filed, 

not a limit on the time for a direct appeal. 

FN5. Although the legislature has the power 

to enact statutes of limitation barring relief 

on complaints filed beyond the limitations 
period, see Maestas v. Sofamor Danek 

Group. Inc.. 33 S.W.3d 805, 809 
(Tenn.2000), it does not have the authority to 

enact legislation affecting the courts' ability 

to process a timely filed cause of action. 

Because we find the statute does not limit 

judicial review of a timely appeal, we do not 

need to address whether limiting judicial re­
view of a timely filed appeal would violate 

due process or " 'constitute an impermissible 

encroachment upon the judicial branch of 
government.' "See Lynch v. City of Jellico. 

205 S.W.3d 384. 393 (Tenn.2006) (quota­
tions omitted). 

2. Standard of Review 

Parties seeking to terminate parental rights must 
prove two elements. First, *809 they have the burden 

of proving that there exists a statutory ground for 
termination. Tenn.Code Ann. § 36-l-113(c)(l) 

(2005); Jones v. Garrett, 92 S.W.3d 835. 838 

(Tenn.2002). Second, they must prove that termina­
tion of parental rights is in the child's best interest. 
Tenn.Code Ann. § 36-l-l l 3(c)(2) (2005); In re 

F.R.R., Ill. 193 S.W.3d 528, 530 (Tenn.2006). Both of 

these elements must be established by clear and con­
vmcmg evidence. See Tenn.Code Ann. § 

36-l-l 13(c)(l) (2005); In re Valentine. 79 S.W.3d 

539. 546 (Tenn.2002). 

[TIL8l On appeal, the trial court's findings of fact 

are reviewed de novo upon the record accompanied by 
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a presumption of correctness unless the preponderance 
of the evidence is otherwise. Tenn. R.App. P. l 3(d); In 

re F.R.R., 193 S.W.3d at 530. In weighing the pre­

ponderance of the evidence, great weight is afforded 

to the trial court's determinations of witness credibil­

ity, which shall not be reversed absent clear and con­

vincing evidence to the contrary. See Jones, 92 
S.W.3d at 838. Questions of law, however, are re­

viewed de novo with no presumption of correctness. 
Langsclunidt v. Langschmidt, 81 S.W.3d 741, 744-45 

crenn.2002). 

3. Termination of Parental Rights 

[9][!0][11][12] The sole ground for termination 

presented in this appeal is the parents' willful aban­

donment of A.M.H. by failing to visit her for four 

months preceding the filing of the termination peti­

tion. It is well established that both the United States 

and Tennessee Constitutions protect parents' rights to 

the custody and care of their children. See Hawk v. 
Hawk, 855 S.W.2d 573. 578-79 (Tenn.1993) 

("[P]arental rights constitute a fundamental liberty 

interest."). Therefore, before a parent's rights to a child 

may be terminated by a court, "there must be a 

showing that the parent is unfit or that substantial 

harm to the child will result if parental rights are not 
terminated." In re Swanson. 2 S.W.3d 180. 188 

(Tenn.1999). By statute, the legislature has designated 

"abandonment" as a valid ground for the termination 
of parental rights. Tenn.Code Ann.§ 36-l-l 13(g)(l) 

(2005). The applicable definition of "abandonment" is 
found in section 36-1-102(1) of the Tennessee Code 

Annotated, which provides as follows: 

(A) "Abandonment" means, for purposes of termi­
nating the parental or guardian rights of parent(s) or 

guardian(s) of a child to that child in order to make 

that child available for adoption, that: 

(I) For a period of four (4) consecutive months 

immediately preceding the filing of a proceeding or 

pleading_JO terminate the parental rights of the 
parent(s) or guardian(s) of the child who is the 
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subject of the petition for termination of parental 

rights or adoption, that the parent(s) or guardian(s) 

either have willfully failed to visit or have willfully 

failed to support or make reasonable payments to­

ward the support of the child; 

(E) For purposes of this subdivision (l), "will­

fully failed to visit" means the willful failure, for a 

period of four (4) consecutive months, to visit or 

engage in more than token visitation; 

(G) "Abandonment" and "abandonment of an 

infant" do not have any other definition except that 

which is set forth in this section, it being the intent 

of the general assembly to establish the only 

grounds for abandonment by statutory definition. 

Specifically, it shall not be required that a parent be 

shown to have evinced a settled purpose to forego 

all parental rights and responsibilities in order for a 

determination of abandonment*810 to be made. 

Decisions of any court to the contrary are hereby 

legislatively overruled. 

Tenn.Code Ann. § 36-l-102(1)(A) (2001). A 

parent who has abandoned a child by "willfully" 

failing to visit is "unfit" under constitutional stand­

ards. In re Swanson, 2 S.W.3d at 188. Therefore, 

under those circumstances, termination of parental 

rights is appropriate. See, e.g., In re F.R.R.. 193 

S.W.3d at 530. Where the failure to visit is not willful, 

however, a failure to visit a child for four months does 

not constitute abandonment. We have held that a 

parent who attempted to visit and maintain relations 

with his child, but was thwarted by the acts of others 

and circumstances beyond his control, did not will­

fully abandon his child. See In re Swanson. 2 S.W.3d 

at 189. 
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Here, we are presented with a situation in which 

the parents of A.M.H. actively pursued legal pro­

ceedings to regain custody of A.M.H. during the 

"abandonment" period but failed to visit for a period 

of four consecutive months immediately prior to the 

filing of a petition for termination of parental rights. 

As a question of law, the trial court's ruling that the 

facts of this case sufficiently support the termination 

ground of willful abandonment are reviewed de novo 

with no presumption of correctness. Cf In re Valen­

tine, 79 S.W.3d at 548 (concluding that "[s]ubstantial 

noncompliance is a question of law which we review 

de novo with no presumption of correctness."). We 

hold that the evidence in this case does not support a 

finding that the parents intentionally abandoned 

A.M.H. 

Disregarding the witnesses that the trial court 

found to lack credibility, the record clearly shows the 

following undisputed facts: 

(1) On January 28, 2001, the parents visited A.M.H. 

in the home of the Bakers; 

(2) The parents became upset when they could not 

take A.M.H. with them to sit for a family portrait; 

(3) The parents refused to leave A.M.H. until a po­

lice officer arrived and told them to leave; 

(4) During the subsequent four months and five 

days prior to the filing of the petition for termina­

tion, the parents pursued help in regaining the cus­

tody of their child by contacting the juvenile court 

and the local media; 

(5) During this time, the parents initiated two juve­

nile court hearings on a petition to regain custody of 

A.M.H.; 

(6) The first hearing was thwarted by the Bakers' 
,,.......--0~ 

request for a continuance; and 
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(7) The second hearing was thwarted by the Bakers' 

initiation of proceedings in chancery court. 

This undisputed evidence does not support a 

finding that the parents' failure to visit A.M.H. was 

willful. Where, as here, the parents' visits with their 

child have resulted in enmity between the parties and 

where the parents redirect their efforts at maintaining a 

parent-child relationship to the courts the evidence 

does not support a "willful failure to visit" as a ground 

for abandonment.FN6 Therefore, we hold that *811 

there has been no willful abandonment and reverse the 

termination of parental rights. Accordingly, the Peti­

tion for Adoption and Termination of Parental Rights 

is dismissed.1
':';

7 

FN6. Citing section 27-1-113 of the Ten­

nessee Code Annotated, the Bakers argue 

that this Court must find abandonment be­

cause it is bound by the concurrent findings 

of fact of the trial court and the Court of 

Appeals. We conclude, however, that the 

statute is inapplicable to the dispositive 

question in this case-whether the parents' 

failure to visit constituted a willful aban­

donment-because that question is a ques­

tion of law, not a question of fact. 

Because we conclude that there are no 

grounds for terminating parental rights, it 

is unnecessary to reach the best interest of 

the child analysis. See Jn re D.L.B.. 118 

S.W.3d 360, 368 (Tenn.2003); Tenn.Code 

Ann.§ 36-l-l 13(c) (2005). 

FN7. In addition to the question of whether 

the evidence supports termination under the 

statute, the parents of A.M.H. present several 

constitutional grounds for reversal. Because 

this case is fully resolved on statutory 

grounds, we decline to address theae-Tssues. 
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See Owens v. State, 908 S.W.2d 923, 926 

(Tenn.1995) ("lUJnder Tennessee law, 

courts do not decide constitutional questions 

unless resolution is absolutely necessary for 

determination of the case and the rights of the 

parties."). 

4. Custody 

[ 131 When this Court reverses a lower court's 

termination of parental rights in a contest between 

parents and non-parents for custody, we usually re­

mand the case to the trial court for the preparation and 

implementation of a plan to return custody of the child 

to the parent. In this case, however, we must first 

address the consent order entered by the juvenile court 

in June of 1999 that transferred the custody and 

guardianship of A.M.H. to the Bakers. Unless we 

conclude that the consent order is unenforceable, the 

parents of A.M.H. have no superior rights to the cus­

tody of A.M.H. The parents argue that the consent 

order is unenforceable and ask that they be granted 

custody. 

[14][15] In an initial proceeding, natural parents 

have superior rights in relation to non-parents who 

seeking custody under article I, section 8 of the Ten­

nessee Constitution. Blair v. Badenhope, 77 S.W.3d 

137, 141 (Tenn.2002). But "absent extraordinary 

circumstances," parents are not entitled to superior 

rights when seeking to modify a valid order placing 

custody with a non-parent "even when that order re­

sulted from the parent's voluntary relinquishment of 

custody to the non-parent." Id. at 143. Despite this 

rule, we have recognized four circumstances in which 

a natural parent continues to enjoy a presumption of 

superior rights to custody: 

(1) When no order exists that transfers custody from 

the natural parent; 

(2) When the order transferring custody from the 

natural parent is accomplished by fraud or wit!mut 
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notice to the parent; 

(3) When the order transferring custody from the 

natural parent is invalid on its face; and 

(4) When the natural parent cedes only temporary 

and informal custody to the non-parents. 

Id. Recognizing the possibility that in the in­

formal setting of juvenile court unrepresented parents 

could enter into a formal order without understanding 

the actual effect of transferring custody, we have ex­

plained that it is only a parent's "voluntary transfer of 

custody to a non-parent, with knowledge of the con­

sequences of that transfer," that will defeat a parent's 

claim to superior rights of custody. Id. at 147 (em­

phasis added). 

The evidence establishes that the parents were 

misled as to the consequences of a change in custody 

and uninformed about the guardianship provision and, 

therefore, did not enter into the agreement with 

knowledge of the consequences of the transfer of 

custody and guardianship. Even if we only consider 

the testimony from witnesses that the chancery court 

found to be credible, the evidence shows that the 

parents were instructed that the transfer of custody 

was temporary and that barring inappropriate conduct 

by the parents, custody would be returned to the *812 
parents. Mrs. Baker testified that, the parents were 

informed that the custody arrangement "could go for 

one year or it could go for eighteen years." 

Mid-South's attorney testified that, he informed the 

father of A.M.H. that if the Bakers did not consent to 

return A.M.H. to the parents' custody, the court might 

not return custody in situations such as where "the 

couple that wanted custody back [engaged in] drug use 

or alcohol use or some kind of abuse or [did] not 

[have] a place for the child to live." The juvenile court 

officer who drafted the consent order testified that, the 

mother was told that the custody transfer would be 

temporary and that-the parents would have "open 
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visitation." The juvenile court officer also testified 

that the mother asked several times for verification 

that the transfer would be temporary before she would 

sign the consent order. The translator for the parties, 

Pastor Yao, testified that the mother understood the 

agreement to be temporary and for the purpose of 

obtaining medical insurance for A.M.H. 

[ 16] This evidence overwhelmingly shows that 

the parents' voluntary relinquishment of custody was 

entered as a temporary measure to provide health 

insurance for A.M.H. with the full intent that custody 

would be returned. Therefore, we hold that the parents 

of A.M.H. did not voluntarily transfer custody and 

guardianship of A.M.H. to the Bakers with knowledge 

of the consequences and, therefore, are entitled to 

superior rights to custody. As we stated in Blair: 

Where a natural parent voluntarily relinquishes 

custody without knowledge of the effect of that act, 

then it cannot be said that these rights [to the care 

and custody of one's child] were accorded the pro­

tection demanded by the Constitution. As such, ap­

plication of the superior rights doctrine in a subse­

quent modification proceeding would be justified. 

Blair. 77 S.W.3d at 148 n. 3. Accordingly, we 

hereby revoke the parental consent to the change of 

custody and guardianship, and consider the competing 

claims of the parties, giving due deference to the 

parents' superior rights to the care and custody of 

A.M.H. 

[ 17)[18 J Under the superior rights doctrine, "a 

natural parent may only be deprived of custody of a 

child upon a showing of substantial harm to the child." 

In re Askew. 993 S.W.2d I, 4 (Tenn.1999). Therefore, 

the determination of a custodial dispute between a 

parent and a non-parent rests on a determination of 

whether there is substantial harm threatening a child's 

welfare if the child returns to the parents. Only then 

may a court find a sufficiently compelling justification 

© 2014 Thomson Reuters. No Claim to Orig. US Gov. Works. 



Page 23 

215 S.W.3d 793 

(Cite as: 215 S.W.3d 793) 

for the infringement of the parents' fundamental right ents. 

to raise a child as they see fit. See id. at 3. 

[ 191 Here, the only evidence of substantial harm 

arises from the delay caused by the protracted litiga­

tion and the failure of the court system to protect the 

parent-child relationship throughout the proceedings. 

Evidence that A.M.H. will be harmed from a change 

in custody because she has lived and bonded with the 

Bakers cannot constitute the substantial harm required 

to prevent the parents from regaining custody.F1's We 

have previously rejected the contention that when a 

child has been in the custody of a non-parent for a 

significant period of time, a lesser standard may be 

applied in determining whether parental rights may be 

terminated. ln re Swanson. 2 S.W.3d at 188 n. 13. 

"Such a *813 standard would increase the likelihood 

for delaying cases in order that the child remain" in the 

custody of the non-parent. Id. The same reasoning 

applies in this situation. 

FN8. However, we recognize that such evi­

dence may be relevant to the manner of im­

plementing the transition in custody from the 

Bakers to the parents and to the possible al­

lowance of visitation with the Bakers. 

[20] Additionally, we note that the testimony 

concerning the general conditions in China is not 

relevant to a finding of substantial harm. Financial 

advantage and affluent surroundings simply may not 

be a consideration in determining a custody dispute 

between a parent and a non-parent. See Hawk. 855 

S.W.2d at 582 ("[M]ere improvement in quality of life 

is not a compelling state interest and is insufficient to 

justify invasion of Constitutional rights.") (internal 

quotation marks and citation omitted). The evidence at 

trial showed that the parents have overcome many 

obstacles to achieve financial stability and are ably 

taking care of their other two children. Given the lack 

of evidence of a threat of substantial harm to A.M.H. if 

she is returned toJ1er parents, we conclude that phys­

ical custody of A.M.H. must be returned to the par-

Conclusion 
Having found that the trial court erred in termi­

nating Shao-Qiang ("Jack") He's and Qin ("Casey") 

Luo's parental rights, we dismiss the Petition for 

Adoption and Termination of Parental Rights and 

reinstate the parental rights of Shao-Qiang ("Jack") 

He and Qin ("Casey") Luo. Further, we revoke the 

parental consent to the change in custody and guard­

ianship, vacate the juvenile court and chancery court 

orders concerning visitation, and designate the current 

custody and guardianship orders as temporary in na­

ture. 

The judgment of the Court of Appeals is reversed. 

As the reinstatement of parental rights resolves the 

issues presented by the Bakers in chancery court, we 

remand this case to the chancery court for the transfer 

of jurisdiction over the remaining issues to the Juve­

nile Court of Shelby County where the modification of 

custody hearing originated. We direct the chancery 

court to complete this transfer within twelve days of 

the entry of this judgment. Cf Tenn.Code Ann. § 

36-l-l l8(e)(4)(A) (2005). The Juvenile Court of 

Shelby County is directed to consider, prepare, and 

implement a plan to resolve the pending custody 

matter with a view toward reunification of A.M.H. 

with her natural parents, Shao-Qiang ("Jack") He and 

Qin ("Casey") Luo, in a manner that minimizes 

trauma to the child. 

The attorney ad litem and guardian ad litem are 

hereby ordered relieved of any further participation in 

proceedings concerning A.M.H. 

The costs of this appeal are taxed to the appellees, 

Jerry L. Baker and Louise K. Baker, for which exe­

cution may issue if necessary. The Clerk of this Court 

is directed to send a copy of this opinion and judgment 

to the Juvenile Court of Shelby County. 
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ORDER 
PERCURIAM. 

The Bakers have filed a Petition to Rehear under 

Rule 39 of the Tennessee Rules of Appellate Proce­

dure. While we decline to grant the petition, we take 

this opportunity to clarify two issues in this case: the 

applicability of the concurrent findings doctrine and 

the continued participation of the guardian ad !item 

and the attorney ad !item. 

[21] The first of these issues concerns the "con­

current findings doctrine." The Bakers, relying upon 

Tennessee Code Annotated section 27-1-113, con­

tend that the trial court made certain findings of fact 

and that we are bound by those factual *814 deter­

minations in which the Court of Appeals has con­

curred. The Tennessee Code Annotated section 

27-1-113 provides in pertinent part as follows: 

In all cases tried on the facts in a chancery court and 

afterwards brought for review to the court of ap­

peals, the court of appeals shall, to the extent that 

the facts are not stipulated or are not concluded by 

the findings of the jury, make and file written find­

ings of fact, which thereupon shall become a part of 

the record. Before any such findings [of fact] shall 

become final, reasonable opportunity shall be af­

forded the parties to examine the findings and to ask 

for different or additional findings .... To the extent 

that the findings of the chancery court and the court 

of appeals concur, they shall, if there be any evi­

dence to support them, be conclusive upon any re­

view of the facts in the supreme court; to the extent 

that they do not concur, they shall be open to ex­

amination in that court. 

(Emphasis added). 

The terms of the statute are instructive. First, the 

court of appeals must reduce its findings of fact to 

writing. The intermediate appellate court must then 

provide a reasonable opportunity for the parties to ,---
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examine the findings and to request different or addi­

tional findings. The record does not reflect that the 

Court of Appeals in this case complied with the stat­

ute. We therefore conclude that Tennessee Code An­

notated section 27-1-113 has no application to this 

case. Because the statute's requirements were not met, 

Rule l3(d) of the Tennessee Rules of Appellate Pro­

cedure governs the standard of review upon appeal. To 

the extent that this Court has interpreted Tennessee 

Code Annotated section 27-1-113 more broadly, 

those cases are overruled as inconsistent with Rule 

13( d) of the Tennessee Rules of Appellate Procedure. 

Furthermore, while the trial court made findings 

of fact in this case, many of those findings are not 

necessary to the determination of whether the He's 

abandoned A.M.H. by failing to visit her during a 

four-month period. The material facts surrounding the 

alleged abandonment are largely undisputed. To the 

extent that such facts are capable of dispute, Rule 

13( d) of the Tennessee Rules of Appellate Procedure 

governs our standard of review upon appeal. Rule 

13( d) states in pertinent part, "[R]eview of findings of 

fact by the trial court in civil actions shall be de novo 

upon the record of the trial court, accompanied by a 

presumption of the correctness of the finding, unless 

the preponderance of the evidence is otherwise." The 

facts in our opinion concerning the issue of aban­

donment reflect the preponderance of the evidence in 

this case. 

The Bakers also assert that we have left A.M.H. 

"lawyerless" by relieving the prior guardian ad !item 

and attorney ad !item from "any further participation 

in proceedings concerning A.M.H." The Bakers mis­

apprehend the procedural posture of this case. Upon 

remand, the chancery court has twelve days to transfer 

this case to the Juvenile Court of Shelby County. The 

juvenile court is vested with such authority as is nec­

essary to "consider, prepare, and implement a plan to 

resolve the pending custody matter with a view to­

wards reunification of A.M.H. with her natural par-

ents." We have not limited the juvenile court's au-
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thority to consider reasonable requests for representa­

tion by a guardian ad !item or an attorney ad !item on 

behalf of A.M.H. This Court, however, is not the 

proper forum for such requests. 

Accordingly, the Bakers' Petition to Rehear is 

denied. Costs are taxed to the petitioners, Jerry L. 

Baker and Louise K. *815 Baker, and their sureties, 

for which execution may issue if necessary. 

Tenn.,2007. 

In re Adoption of A.M.H. 

215 S.W.3d 793 

END OF DOCUMENT 
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FARMER,J. 

*1 Plaintiff Virginia Lynn Woolsey appeals the 

trial court's order removing Jennifer McPherson from 

her custody and placing the child in the custody of 

Defendant Douglas Harmon McPherson. McPherson 

appeals the trial court's order requiring him to pay the 

$15,000 fee of the Guardian ad Litem. We affirm in all 

respects. 

I. Procedural History 

Jennifer McPherson, the nonmarital child of 

Woolsey and McPherson, was born on November 13, 

1991. On May 20, 1992, Woolsey brought an action to 

establish Jennifer's paternity. The matter was heard by 

a juvenile court referee who found that McPherson 

was Jennifer's father and issued recommendations 
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under which McPherson would have visitation with 

Jennifer. Woolsey then requested that the matter be 

reheard by a judge. After a rehearing, the trial judge 

issued an order consistent with the recommendations 

of the referee.1
·'."J On April 16, 1993, McPherson filed 

a petition for a change of custody. After hearing the 

petition for a change of custody on October 12, 1993, 

the trial court took the matter under advisement and 

issued a temporary order providing that custody of 

Jennifer should remain with Woolsey. A final order 

was entered on August 2, 1994 voluntarily dismissing 

McPherson's petition for a change of custody. 

McPherson filed a second petition for a change of 

custody on April 30, 1996. After hearing twenty-two 

days of testimony from twenty-six witnesses and 

examining ninety-seven trial exhibits, the court 

granted McPherson's petition to change custody and 

ordered McPherson to pay the fee of the Guardian ad 

Litem. Woolsey appeals the trial court's ruling with 

respect to the change of custody and McPherson ap­

peals the trial court's ruling regarding the payment of 

the Guardian ad Litem's fee. Both Woolsey and 

McPherson request reimbursement from the other 

party for attorney fees and other expenses associated 

with this appeal. 

FN I . The custody and visitation arrangement 

ordered by the trial court has been frustrated 

by ongoing conflict and a general lack of 

cooperation between Woolsey and McPher­

son. This is evidenced by numerous petitions 

and motions filed by the parties in this cause. 

They include as follows: "Petition For Cita­

tion For Contempt," "Motion For Protective 

Order," "Petition For Immediate Injunctive 

Relief," "Petition To Cite Virginia Lynn 

Woolsey In Contempt," "Amended Petition 

For Contempt And Petition For Change Of 

Custody," "Motion To Compel Discovery 

And For Sanctions," "Petition To Modify 
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Christmas Vacation And Extend Visitation 

To Allow Visitation With Paternal Grand­

parents," "Motion For Temporary Modifica­

tion Of Visitation Order," "Petition To Cite 

Respondent In Contempt," "Petition For Ci­

tation For Contempt Of Court," "Petition To 

Appoint Guardian Ad Litem And To Enforce 

Court Orders With Respect To Psychological 

Evaluations And Joint Counseling," "Petition 

For Christmas Vacation And Makeup 

Wednesday Night Visitation," "Amendment 

To Petition Regarding Christmas Visitation 

And Wednesday Makeup Visitation," and 

"Petition For Contempt And For Specific 

Visitation." 

II. Change of Custody 

As an initial matter, we note that trial courts have 

wide discretion in cases involving child custody. See, 

e.g., Gaskill v. Gaskill. 936 S.W.2d 626, 631 

(Tenn.App.1996); Tenn.Code Ann. § 36-6-10l(a)(2) 

(Supp. I 997)(providing that the trial court "shall have 

the widest discretion to order a custody arrangement 

that is in the best interest of the child"). Consistent 

with this general principle, our review of the instant 

case is de novo on the record, accompanied by a pre­

sumption of correctness of the findings below. See, 

e.g., Gaskill. 936 S.W.2d at 631. We may not reverse 

the judgment of the trial court unless it is contrary to 

the preponderance of the evidence. See Haas v. 

Knighton, 676 S.W.2d 554, 555 (Tenn.1984); 

T.R.A.P. 13(d). 

In matters of initial child custody, the trial court 

seeks to determine what would be in the best interest 

of the child. See, e.g., Varley v. Varley. 934 S.W.2d 

659, 665 (Tenn.App. I 996)(citing Koch v. Koch, 874 

S.W.2d 57 L 575 (Tenn.App.1993)); Tenn.Code Ann. 

§ 36-6- I 06 ( 1996). This determination is based on the 

court's assessment of the comparative fitness of the 

parties seeking custody in light of the particular cir-

C_,timstances of the case. See Ruyle v. Ruyle, 928 

S.W.2d 439, 442 (Tenn.App.1996); Matter of Par-
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sons .. 914 S.W.2d 889. 893 (Tenn.App.1995). When 

making this assessment, the court will consider all 

relevant factors, including the following: 

*2 (1) The love, affection and emotional ties ex­

isting between the parents and child; 

(2) The disposition of the parents to provide the 

child with food, clothing, medical care, education and 

other necessary care and the degree to which a parent 

has been the primary caregiver; 

(3) The importance of continuity in the child's life 

and the length of time the child has lived in a stable, 

satisfactory environment; 

( 4) The stability of the family unit of the parents; 

(5) The mental and physical health of the parents; 

(6) The home, school and community record of 

the child; 

(7) The reasonable preference of the child if 

twelve (12) years of age or older. The court may hear 

the preference of a younger child upon request. The 

preferences of older children should normally be 

given greater weight than those of younger children; 

(8) Evidence of physical or emotional abuse to the 

child, to the other parent or to any other person; and 

(9) The character and behavior of any other per­

son who resides in or frequents the home of a parent 

and such person's interactions with the child. 

Tenn.Code Ann. § 36-6-106 (1996). See also 

Gaskill, 936 S.W.2d at 630 (listing additional factors 

that may be considered when making a child custody 

determination). 

© 2014 Thomson Reuters. No Claim to Orig. US Gov. Works. 



Not Reported in S.W.2d, 1998 WL 760950 (Tenn.Ct.App.) 

(Cite as: 1998 WL 760950 (Tenn.Ct.App.)) 

Once the trial court has made an initial determi­

nation with respect to child custody, it may not en­

tertain a subsequent petition to modify custody absent 

a material change in circumstances such that the 

welfare of the child demands a redetermination. See, 

e.g., Massengale v. Massengale, 915 S.W.2d 818, 819 

(Tenn.App.1995 ). A material change in circumstances 

justifying modification of a child custody order may 

include factors arising subsequent to the initial de­

termination or changed conditions that could not be 

anticipated at the time of the original order. See Biair 

v. Baden/wpe, 940 S.W.2d 575, 576 

(Tenn.App. I 996)(citing Dalton v. Dalton, 858 S.W.2d 

324, 326 (Tenn.App.1993)). If the trial court finds that 

there has, in fact, been a material change in circum­

stances, it will then consider the petition to modify 

custody using a best interests standard. 

In the instant case, the trial court originally de­

termined that it was in Jennifer's best interest for her to 

be in the custody of Woolsey. Thus, in order for the 

trial court to consider McPherson's petition to remove 

Jennifer from Woolsey's custody and place the child in 

his own custody, it must first find that there has been a 

material change of circumstances. 

McPherson's petition for a change of custody al­

leges, among other things, that Woolsey 1) dresses 

Jennifer in dirty clothing and subjects the child to dirty 

living conditions, 2) fails to provide Jennifer with 

necessary medical care, 3) fails to place Jennifer in a 

child safety seat while riding in the car, 4) uses foul 

and abusive language toward McPherson in Jennifer's 

presence, 5) attempts to prevent Jennifer from main­

taining a relationship with McPherson and his family, 

and 6) makes inappropriate comments in front of 

Jennifer regarding "who McPherson is sleeping with." 

At this stage of our inquiry, we do not speculate as to 

the truth or falsity of these allegations. We note, 

however, that these incidents of misconduct allegedly 

occurred subsequent to the trial court's initial custody 

determination and, if proven, would constitute a se­

rious threat to Jennifer's physical and psychological 
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well being. We thus conclude that McPherson's peti­

tion alleged a material change of circumstances af­

fecting the welfare of Jennifer. Accordingly, we find 

that the trial court did not err in considering 

McPherson's petition to change custody. 

*3 We next consider whether the trial court erred 

in finding that it is in Jennifer's best interest to remove 

her from the custody of Woolsey and place her in the 

custody of McPherson. The proof presented regarding 

the parental fitness of Woolsey and McPherson is 

voluminous. Because we are of the opinion that the 

most probative pieces of evidence in the instant case 

are those elicited from disinterested parties, our dis­

cussion of the proof focuses on the evidence contained 

in reports submitted by the Department of Human 

Services, the Center for Children in Crisis, and the 

Guardian ad Litem. 

In April of 1995, the Department of Human Ser­

vices (DHS) Fl\
2 became involved in this matter after 

receiving a report of suspected neglect and physical 

abuse of Jennifer on the part of Woolsey. A DHS 

counselor investigated the allegations and determined 

that they were unfounded, stating the Woolsey and 

Jennifer appeared to share a close bond with one an­

other. In February of 1996, the DHS received a report 

of possible sexual abuse of Jennifer by McPherson. 

Jennifer was physically examined at the Sexual As­

sault Resource Center but the findings of this exami­

nation were inconclusive. A counselor from the DHS 

spoke with Woolsey, McPherson, Jennifer, and B.J. 

Gamer, who allegedly witnessed sexual abuse on the 

part of McPherson against one of his female ac­

quaintances. The DHS then referred this matter to the 

Le Bonheur Center for Children in Crisis (CCC) for an 

evaluation. 

FN2. In 1996, the Department of Human 

Services was replaced by the Department of 

Children's Services. See Tenn.Code Ann. § 

37-5,::JJ)I (1996). For purposes of this opin­

ion, we will refer to this entity as the De-
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partment of Human Services or DHS. 

A five member team from the CCC interviewed 

Woolsey, McPherson, and Jennifer and conducted 

psychological evaluations of both Woolsey and 

McPherson.F\13 McPherson's psychological evaluation 

was inconclusive regarding whether he had ever en­

gaged in child abuse. Woolsey's psychological evalu­

ation, however, suggested "serious problems in her 

parenting practices, as well as in her own psycholog­

ical functioning." The CCC report noted behaviors on 

the part of Woolsey demonstrating impaired insight 

and judgment with respect to Jennifer's healthy de­

velopment as follows: 

FN3. This team consisted of a social worker, 

a psychological examiner, two psychologists, 

and a psychiatrist. The social worker, Joanna 

E. Morat, interviewed Woolsey, McPherson, 

Jennifer, and Woolsey's father. Earle Do­

nelson, the psychological examiner, inter­

viewed Woolsey and evaluated her perfor­

mance on a variety of psychological tests. Dr. 

Koranek, a psychologist, interviewed 

McPherson and evaluated his performance 

on a variety of psychological tests. Dr. Gen­

try, also a psychologist, reviewed the test 

data obtained by Earle Donelson and partic­

ipated in the writing ofDonelson's report. Dr. 

Holman, the psychiatrist, interviewed Jen­

nifer. After these individual interviews were 

concluded, the five team members met to 

assess the case and make recommendations 

regarding Jennifer's welfare. These findings 

and recommendations are contained in a final 

"Multidisciplinary Team Report" dated May 

22, 1996. 

[T]he child's mental status examination at CCC 

reveals that she is experiencing coaching from her 

mother, and that Ms. Woolsey rebuffs the child for 

expressing positive feelings about Mr. McPherson. Qf 
further concern is Ms. W oolsey's exploitation of Jen-
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nifer by encouraging developmentally inappropriate 

behavior, e.g., consistently referring to her as 'the 

baby', reportedly allowing the child to suck Ms. 

Woolsey's thumb, and sleeping and bathing with Jen­

nifer; exploitation also has occurred with Ms. Wool­

sey photographing Jennifer's genital and buttocks 

areas. Finally, Jennifer apparently is denied healthy 

independent peer interaction; contact with the ex -

tended paternal family is disapproved by Ms. Wool­

sey. All these concerns support the conclusion of 

emotional child abuse by Ms. Woolsey toward Jen­

nifer. 

The final recommendation of the CCC team was 

that Jennifer be removed from Woolsey's custody and 

that W oolsey's visitation with Jennifer be supervised 

by a neutral third party. 

*4 After receiving the final report of the CCC, the 

DHS issued its own report and recommendations. 

These recommendations were based on the findings of 

the CCC evaluation as well as DHS's own independent 

investigation. The DHS found that Woolsey and Jen­

nifer appear to have a "strange and somewhat ab­

normal relationship." This conclusion was based on 

several disclosures by Woolsey to a DHS counselor 

indicating that 1) Woolsey and Jennifer take daily 

baths together, 2) Woolsey has taken numerous pho­

tographs of Jennifer's private parts in an effort to 

substantiate her allegations of sexual abuse on the part 

of McPherson, 3) Woolsey uses highly sexualized 

language, 4) Jennifer is reared in a highly restricted or 

isolated environment, and 5) Woolsey has a "bellig­

erent, hostile and revengeful attitude" toward 

McPherson. The final recommendation of the DHS 

was that Jennifer be removed from the custody of 

Woolsey and placed in the custody of McPherson. 

On November 29, 1995, the trial court appointed 

a guardian ad !item to act on behalf of Jennifer in 

matters coming before the court. The Guardian ad 

Litem conducted a thorough investigation. She inter­

viewed both Woolsey and McPherson and visited with 

Jennifer on two occasions, once at W oolsey's home 
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and once at the home of McPherson. The Guardian ad 

Litem also interviewed numerous persons at the re­
quest of the parties, interviewed all of the attorneys 

previously involved in this matter, and attended a 

meeting of the five members of the CCC team. In her 

report, the Guardian ad Litem expressed concern re­

garding the CCC investigation. She alleged that, dur­

ing the CCC meeting she attended, three of the par­

ticipants acted in an unprofessional manner and an­

other participant left the meeting before its conclusion. 
Additionally, the Guardian ad Litem noted that the 

original recommendation of the social worker from 

the CCC was that Jennifer be placed in a foster home 

rather than in the custody of McPherson. The final 

recommendation of the Guardian ad Litem was that 

Jennifer remain in the custody of Woolsey but that 

McPherson be allowed visitation. 

We have no doubt that both Woolsey and 

McPherson love Jennifer and are willing and able to 

provide her with the basic necessities of life. As we 

noted in Varley v. Varley. 934 S.W.2d 659 
(Tenn.App.1996), "[w]hen loved by both parents, 

children should be taught to love and respect each 

parent equally." Id. at 667. The evidence in the in­

stant case suggests that Woolsey discourages Jennifer 

from developing a loving and respectful relationship 
with McPherson. Woolsey apparently does not want 

McPherson to have visitation with Jennifer or to be 
involved in Jennifer's education, religion, or up­

bringing. Woolsey allegedly makes disparaging re­

marks about McPherson in Jennifer's presence and 

punishes Jennifer for expressing affection for or a 
desire to visit McPherson. Woolsey reportedly en­

courages Jennifer to refer to McPherson as "Doug" 
rather than "Dad" or "Daddy." Finally, Woolsey has 

openly defied the orders of the trial court with respect 

to visitation by McPherson and his extended family. 

We are extremely concerned that these attempts on the 

part of Woolsey to alienate Jennifer from McPherson 

may result in serious consequences to the child's 

psychological well being. 
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*5 The trial court determined that it is in the best 
interest of Jennifer to remove her from the custody of 

Woolsey and place the child in the custody of 

McPherson. Based on our review of the record, we 

cannot say that the evidence preponderates against this 

finding. We therefore uphold the order of the trial 
court granting McPherson's petition to change custo­

dy. 

III. Guardian Ad Litem Fee 

The trial court ordered McPherson to pay the 

$15,000 fee of the Guardian ad Litem. In child custody 

cases, the trial court is given wide discretion with 
respect to the awarding of fees. See Salisbury v. 

Salisbury. 657 S.W.2d 761. 770 (Tenn.App.1983). We 

will not interfere with the trial court's decision re­

garding the proper assessment of fees unless there has 

been a clear abuse of discretion. See id. at 770. We 
recognize that ability to pay is not a controlling con­

sideration when determining fee awards in custody 

cases. See Sherrod v. Wix, 849 S.W.2d 780. 785 

(Tenn.App.1992). The relative wealth of the parties, 

however, is one factor to be considered. In the instant 
case, it appears that McPherson's resources are far 

more extensive than those of Woolsey. We do not find 

that the trial court abused its discretion in charging the 

fee of the Guardian ad Litem to McPherson. 

IV. Attorney's Fees and Expenses on Appeal 

Both Woolsey and McPherson have asked to be 

awarded attorney fees and expenses incurred in con­

nection with this appeal. We do not find any basis 
upon which to award attorney fees or expenses in this 

matter. The requests of both Woolsey and McPherson 

are therefore denied. 

V. Conclusion 

The order of the trial court granting McPherson's 

petition to change custody and charging the fee of the 
Guardian ad Litem to McPherson is affirmed. Issues 

were raised on appeal by both parties. In our discre-

_tiQn, we tax costs of this appeal to McPherson, for 

which execution may issue if necessary. 
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CRAWFORD, P.J., and TOMLIN, Sp.J., concurs. 

Tenn.App., 1998. 

Woolsey v. McPherson 

Not Reported in S.W.2d, 1998 WL 760950 

(Tenn.Ct.App.) 

END OF DOCUMENT 
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and DAVID R. FARMER, J.,joined. 

OPINION 
ALAN E. HIGHERS, J. 

*1 This case involves the property of a divorced 

couple and the award of attorney's fees to the former 
wife. For the following reasons, we vacate the deci­

sion of the trial court and remand for further pro­

ceedings consistent with this opinion. 

Facts and Procedural History 
Sidney W. Farnsworth, III ("Husband") and Page 

J. Farnsworth ("Wife") were married in 1983. The two 

lived in a house ('.'the Humes residence") in Memphis 

in which Husband held equity and owned before the 
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marriage. At the time, Husband worked as an insur­

ance company underwriter, and Wife was, and con­

tinues to be, a speech pathologist. As an underwriter, 

Husband's income was approximately $30,000 per 

year. Subsequently, Husband decided he wished to 

change vocations and chose to attend law school to 

become an attorney, a decision Wife supported. In 

1985, Husband and Wife moved to Nashville so that 

Husband could attend Vanderbilt University to earn 

his law degree. 

While Husband attended law school, the parties 

rented their house in Memphis, a task for which Wife 

assumed most of the responsibility. In addition, Wife 

also handled the renting of the parties' upstairs as an 

apartment in their Nashville home in order to pay for 

part of the Nashville home's rent. Wife performed the 

household chores, providing Husband with time and 

energy for his studies. Wife also worked two jobs in 

the speech pathology field to ensure the parties had 
enough income to support themselves. While in law 

school, Husband worked as a law clerk one summer 

and another summer worked for an insurance firm. 
Husband completed law school at Vanderbilt and 

graduated in 1988. Upon graduating, the parties 

moved back to Memphis and resumed living in the 
Humes residence where they continued to reside until 

separating in 1999. 

The parties returned to Memphis where each 
worked in their respective fields, with Wife working 

as a speech pathologist and Husband attaining em­

ployment at the law firm, Armstrong, Allen, PLC, and 

eventually became a member of that firm. Aside from 
periodic increases, Wife's maximum earning capacity 

is approximately $47,000 per annum, and Husband's 
current earning capacity is approximately $100,000 
per annum. FK 

1 

FN I . Armstrong, Allen, PLC, utilizes a point 
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system for determining how much income 

each member receives. Although there was 

testimony that Husband's income was about 

to be reduced by Armstrong Allen due to 

Husband's diminished productivity, the trial 

court below found, and this Court has no 

reason to disagree, that Husband's earning 

capacity per annum is $100,000. 

As for the parties' separate property, the evidence 

at trial showed a sizable disparity. While Wife testi­

fied she held separate property mostly in the form of 

jewelry valued at approximately $20,000, Husband 

admitted to holding an account in Salomon Smith 

Barney of assets worth almost $300,000, which he 

received as a gift from his mother. The parties agreed 

that the Humes residence held a fair market value of 

$90,000. In addition, the parties had accumulated over 

$300,000 in marital property. Finally, the parties had 

incurred debts from credit cards, a second mortgage 

on their home, and various fees for attorneys and the 

guardian ad !item for this cause. 

In July 1999, Wife commenced this divorce ac­

tion alleging grounds of irreconcilable differences and 

later amending her complaint to include fault grounds 

of inappropriate marital conduct. Husband answered 

and filed a counter-complaint for divorce in October 

2000. A three-day trial was held in the Shelby County 

Chancery Court in February 2002, after which the trial 

court granted the parties a divorce,FN2 ordered a divi­

sion of the marital property in a 60/40 split for the 

Wife and Husband respectively,FN3 and allocated most 

of the parties' marital debt to the Husband."M Addi­

tionally, the trial court prorated the guardian ad !item's 

fees and ordered Husband to pay all of Wife's attor­

ney's fees. Because Wife had not received any pay­

ments for her attorney's fees, she moved the court to 

set payments on this award, and the court below set the 

amount of Husband's monthly payments, adjusting the 

amount to account for the interest and additional fees 

accrued since the final divorce decree. Husband timely 

appealed from the final divorce decree and presents 
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the following issues for our review: 

FN2. The parties stipulated the grounds of 

divorce. 

FN3. The Court below specified that a sum of 

$10,000 of Wife's marital property was to be 

used to purchase a more modem, safer car in 

the interests of the parties' minor child, and 

that Wife was to use her portion of the equity 

of the Humes residence towards the purchase 

of a new home. 

FN4. The trial court also addressed issues 

concerning the parties' minor child, however, 

those issues are not presented to this Court on 

appeal. 

*2 I. The trial court erred in its property division 

because, as a result of the allocation of marital debt, 

the de facto result of the property division resulted 

in an inequitable disparity; 

II. The trial court abused its discretion when it 

awarded Wife all of her attorney's fees; and 

III. In the alternative, the trial court erred when it 

modified the amount of attorney's fees owed to Wife 

in its order to set payments when such modification 

was not pursuant to the procedure of Rules 59 or 60 

of the Tennessee Rules of Civil Procedure. 

Wife presents the following additional issue for this 

Court's review: 

IV. Husband should be ordered to pay Wife's at­

torney's fees from this appeal. 

For the following reasons, this Court vacates the 

decision of the trial court and remands this cause for 

further proceedings consistent with this opinion. 
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Standard of Review 

Our review of a trial court's marital property di­

vision is de nova upon the record with a presumption 

of correctness accorded to the trial court's findings of 

fact. Tenn. R. Civ. P. 13(d); Dellinger v. Dellinger. 

958 S.W.2d 778, 780 (Tenn.Ct.App.1997) (citing 

Haas v. Knighton. 676 S.W.2d 554, 555 (Tenn. J 984); 

Dalton v. Dalton, 858 S.W.2d 324, 327 

(Tenn.Ct.App.1993)). We are mindful that trial courts 

are given wide discretion by appellate courts for the 

manner in which they divide marital property, and, 

therefore, such divisions are given great weight by 

appellate courts on appeal. Dellinger. 958 S.W.2d at 

780 (citing Wade v. Wade, 897 S.W.2d 702, 715 

(Tenn.Ct.App.1994 ); Wallace v. Wallace. 733 S.W.2d 

102, 106 (Tenn.Ct.App.1987)). Additionally, the 

award of attorney's fees in a divorce action is within 

the discretion of the trial court and appellate courts 

will not interfere with such awards unless there is a 

clear showing of an abuse of that discretion. Aaron v. 

Aaron, 909 S.W.2d 408, 411 (Tenn.1995) (citing 

Storey v. Storey, 835 S.W.2d 593, 597 

(Tenn.Ct.App. 1992); Crouch v. Crouch. 385 S.W.2d 

288, 293 (Tenn.Ct.App.1964)). Finally, all questions 

of law warrant a de nova review by this Court with no 

presumption of correctness given to the trial court. 

Alford v. Alford, No. E2001-02361-SC-Rl 1-CV, 2003 

Tenn. LEXIS 1046, at *5. (Tenn. Nov. 6, 2003) (citing 

Union Carbide C01p. v. Huddleston, 854 S.W.2d 87, 

91 (Tenn.1993)). 

Property and Debt Division 

Husband first argues that the trial court erred 

when it divided the marital estate, awarding Wife 60% 

and Husband 40% of the property. Specifically, 

Husband argues that the trial court created an inequi­

table disparity in this division when the allocation of 

the marital debt is considered. When a trial court di­

vides the marital property of a former husband and 

wife, it must consider certain factors in making its 

division as required by Tenn.Code Ann. § 36-4-121 ( c) 

(2003). 
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In making equitable division of marital property, the 

court shall consider all relevant factors including: 

*3 ( 1) The duration of the marriage; 

(2) The age, physical and mental health, voca­

tional skills, employability, earning capacity, es­

tate, financial liabilities and financial needs of 

each of the parties; 

(3) The tangible or intangible contribution by one 

(1) party to the education, training or increased 

earning power of the other party; 

(4) The relative ability of each party for future 

acquisitions of capital assets and income; 

(5) The contribution of each party to the acquisi­

tion, preservation, appreciation, depreciation or 

dissipation of the marital or separate property, 

including the contribution of a party to the mar­

riage as homemaker, wage earner or parent, with 

the contribution of a party as homemaker or wage 

earner to be given the same weight if each party 

has fulfilled its role; 

(6) The value of the separate property of each 

party; 

(7) The estate of each party at the time of the 

marriage; 

(8) The economic circumstances of each party at 

the time the division of property is to become 

effective; 

(9) The tax consequences to each party, costs 

associated with the reasonably foreseeable sale of 

the asset, and other reasonably foreseeable ex­

penses associated with the asset; 
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( 10) The amount of social security benefits to 

each spouse; and 

(11) Such other factors as are necessary to con­

sider the equities between the parties. 

Tenn.Code Ann.§ 36-4-121(c) (2003) 

"Marital debts" have been defined by our Su­

preme Court as "all debts incurred by either or both 

spouses during the course of the marriage up to the 

date of the final divorce hearing." Alford, 2003 Tenn. 

LEXIS l 046, at *8. "Unless a court has made provi­

sions for the distribution of property in a decree of 

legal separation, a period of separation before divorce 

has no effect on the classification of debt as marital or 

separate." Id. at *9-10 (footnote omitted). Once it is 

determined that a debt is marital, a trial court should 

consider the following four factors in allocating such 

debt: (1) the debt's purpose; (2) who incurred the debt; 

(3) which party benefitted from incurring the debt; and 

(4) which party is best able to repay the debt. Id. at *2. 

In the case at bar, the trial court heard evidence of 

credit card debts, bank loans, loans from family, and a 

second mortgage on the Humes residence. The Hus­

band challenges the allocation of the debt by the trial 

court, which essentially burdened the Husband with 

90% of the parties' debt. Though there is little dispute 

as to which party incurred each debt, the record lacks 

evidence regarding who benefitted from the debt or 

the debt's purpose. In addition, the trial court made no 

findings concerning the four factors from Alford. 

Instead the trial court simply divided the various debts 

and, in the case of the second mortgage incurred by 

Husband, the court below did not find that it was 

"acquired properly as a marital debt." Because it 

considered the second mortgage a non-marital debt, 

the court below appeared not to consider any of the 

factors except for who had incurred that mortgage. 

Therefore, this Court must remand this case to the trial 

court for a determination of the-proper allocation of 
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the marital debts and marital property in accordance 

with the Alford decision. 

Attorney's Fees as Alimony in Solido 
*4 Because an award of attorney's fees is con­

sidered alimony in solido, the trial court must consider 

the relevant factors enumerated in Tenn.Code Ann. § 

36-5-IOl(d)(l)(E) (2003). Koja v. Koja, 42 S.W.3d 

94. 98 (Tenn.Ct.App.2000) (citing Herrera v. Herre­

ra, 944 S.W.2d 379, 390 (Tenn.Ct.App.1996); Cran­

ford v. Cranford, 772 S.W.2d 48, 52 

(Tenn.Ct.App.1989)). Because one of those factors to 

consider is "[t]he provisions made with regard to the 

marital property as defined in § 36-4- I 21 " and this 

Court has remanded this cause for further findings on 

the issue of the parties' marital debts, we are unable to 

determine the propriety of an award of attorney's fees. 

Therefore, this Court vacates the trial court's award of 

attorney's fees and remands this cause for a determi­

nation of whether an award of attorney's fees is proper 

in light of the trial court's revised property division. 

Attorney's Fees on Appeal 

Wife argues that she should be awarded her at­

torney's fees incurred on this appeal. The Tennessee 

Supreme Court has enumerated a number of factors to 

consider for determining whether to award a party his 

or her attorney's fees on appeal. These factors include 

the ability of the requesting party to pay the accrued 

fees, the requesting party's success in the appeal, 

whether the requesting party sought the appeal in good 

faith, and any other equitable factor that need be con­

sidered. See Folk v. Folk, 357 S.W.2d 828, 829 

(Tenn.1962). Given our disposition of this appeal, we 

hold that it would be improper and inequitable to 

award attorney's fees from this appeal to Wife. See 

Seaton v. Seaton. 516 S.W.2d 91. 93-94 (Tenn.1974). 

Conclusion 

For the foregoing reasons, we vacate the decision 

of the trial court and remand this cause for further 

proceedings consistent with this opinion. Costs of this 

appeal are taxed equally to Appellant, Sidney W. 

© 2014 Thomson Reuters. No Claim to Orig. US Gov. Works. 



Not Reported in S.W.3d, 2004 WL 239764 (Tenn.Ct.App.) 

(Cite as: 2004 WL 239764 (Tenn.Ct.App.)) 

Farnsworth, III, and his surety, and Appellee, Page J. 

Farnsworth, for which execution may issue if neces­

sary. 

Tenn.Ct.App.,2004. 

Farnsworth v. Farnsworth 

Not Reported in S.W.3d, 2004 WL 239764 

(Tenn.Ct.App.) 

END OF DOCUMENT 
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IN THE COURT OF APPEALS OF TENNESSEE 
AT JACKSON 

STANLEY DON RUNYON V. MELANIE FORTNER RUNYON 

Circuit Court for Shelby County 
No. CT00184711 

No. W2013-01586-COA-R10-CV 

ORDER 

FILED 
SEP 0 6 2013 

Now pending before the Court is the Rule 10 application for extraordinary appeal 
filed in this matter by Applicant Melanie Fortner Runyon on July 12, 2013. By Order 
entered on July 15, 2013, the Court directed Respondent Stanley Don Runyon to file an 
answer to the pending Rule 10 application within ten (10) days from the date of the filing 
of that order, pursuant to Rule I 0( d) of the Tennessee Rules of Appellate Procedure. 
Also, in our Order of July 25, 2013, the Court declined to stay the operation of the 
"Findings of Fact and Conclusions of Law" as requested in the application. 

On July 18, 2013, Respondent filed a motion requesting an extension of time to 
file an answer. The Court granted by the motion by Order entered on July 19, 2013, and 
directed that Respondent's answer would be due on or before Thursday, August 15, 2013. 
Respondent filed his answer on August 15, 2013 . 

Upon due consideration, the application is respectfully denied. Costs are assessed 
to Applicant Melanie Fortner Runyon and her surety for which execution may issue, if 
necessary. It is SO ORDERED. 

PERCURIAM 
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OPINION 
HOLLY M. KIRBY, J. 

*1 This is a Rule IOB appeal of the denial of a 

petition for recusal. In this divorce case, the trial court 
bifurcated the issues and conducted a 15-day eviden­

tiary hearing solely on the parties' parenting ar­

rangement. Months later, the trial court entered an 

order designating the father as the primary residential 
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parent and giving the mother supervised parenting 

time. The mother was denied permission for an in­

terlocutory appeal from the parenting order. Several 

months after that, the mother discovered that, in the 

course of drafting the parenting order, the trial judge's 

office had an ex parte exchange with the guardian ad 

litem to confirm a minor factual matter. The mother 

alleged that the trial judge had violated ethical rules 

against such ex parte communications and filed a 

motion asking the trial judge to recuse herself. The 

trial court denied the motion to recuse. The mother 

filed this accelerated interlocutory appeal of the denial 
of her recusal motion pursuant to Rule I OB of the 

Tennessee Supreme Court Rules. We decline to adju­

dicate whether there was a breach of any ethical rules. 

As to the trial judge's denial of the motion for recusal, 

we affirm. 

Background 
On April 18, 2011, Plaintiff/ Appellee Stanley 

Don Runyon ("Father") filed a petition for divorce 

against Defendant/ Appellant Melanie Fortner Runyon 
("Mother") in the Circuit Court for Shelby County, 

Tennessee. Three children were born of their mar­

riage, two sons and a daughter ("Daughter"). Only 

Daughter, born in July 2003, was still a minor at the 
time of the proceedings that led to this appeal.F:-JI The 

divorce case was assigned to Judge Donna Fields. 

FN 1. At the time of the parenting hearing 
below, one of the parties' sons lived with 

Father and the other lived with Mother. 

On January 6, 2012, the trial court appointed at­

torney Lisa Zacharias as the guardian ad litem 

("GAL") for Daughter. Pending the divorce trial, 

largely by agreement of the parties, Daughter had 

roughly equal parenting time with both parents on a 
:veek-on/week-off schedule.F"2 In May 2012, the trial 

court entered a consent order in which the parties 
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agreed to the trial court's appointment of Fred A 

Steinberg, Ph.D., to perform a forensic psychological 

custody evaluation and assessment as to all parenting 

issues. The trial court bifurcated the parenting issues 

and the property issues for trial. 

FN2. According to Mother, prior to Summer 

2012, she was the primary caregiver for 

Daughter. 

The first phase was the trial of the parenting is­

sues, held over a period of 15 nonconsecutive days 

between November 16, 2012, and January 17, 2013. 

The transcript of this hearing is over 4,000 pages long 

with 157 exhibits, and the docket sheet for this phase 

alone is 48 pages. FNJ At the conclusion of this hearing, 

the trial court gave the parties one week to file motions 

and submit proposed orders .FN
4 Despite the trial 

court's directive, the parties debated the proposed 

findings of fact and conclusions of law on the par­

enting issues until after March l, 2013. 

FN3. Only selected portions of the trial 

transcript were submitted by the parties in 

this appeal. 

FN4. The trial court cautioned counsel that 

the trial judge had a three-week medical 

malpractice trial and then a scheduled ab­

sence of several weeks for surgery. 

In March 2013, in the absence of a final order on 

the parenting issues, the parties sought guidance from 

the trial court on the allocation of parenting time for 

Daughter's upcoming spring break from school. PN
5 In 

a hearing held on March 6, 2012, the trial court de­

termined that Daughter would spend her 2013 spring 

break with Father, and thereafter Daughter would 

alternate her spring break with the parties each year. 

On April 3, 2013, the trial court entered a written order 

consistent with its oral ruling. The order specified that, 

after Daughter's 2013 spring break, the parties would 
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resume the "week on, week off parenting time" ar­

rangement. The trial court commented at that time, "It 

is the intent of the Court that neither party have three 

consecutive weeks of parenting time" with Daughter. 

FN5. It appears that no formal written motion 

was filed regarding spring break; instead, the 

issue was raised to the trial court in a con­

ference call in which all necessary parties 

participated. 

*2 On approximately April 5, 2013, before the 

trial court entered its written order on parenting time, 

Father filed a motion asking the trial court to require 

Mother to take Daughter to see a particular tutor. On 

April 10, 2013, before Mother filed her response to 

Father's motion on tutoring, the trial court had a tele­

phonic hearing on the motion with counsel for the 

parties and the GAL; the parents were not given ad­

vance notice of the telephone hearing. Counsel for 

Mother had two employees take notes on what tran­

spired in the April 10, 2013 teleconference call; those 

employees later executed affidavits based on their 

notes of the hearing. At the hearing, it appears that 

Mother would not agree to the tutoring but was willing 

to accede if Daughter's physicians said that it would do 

the child no harm. Two weeks later, on April 24, 2013, 

the trial court entered a written order granting Father's 

motion and directing the continuation of Daughter's 

tutoring with the specified tutor during the child's 

summer break. The order stated that the holding was 

based on the argument of counsel and emails on the 

opinions of Daughter's treating medical professionals 

regarding the tutoring. 

Less than a month later, on May 17, 2013, the trial 

court issued a 30--page order adjudicating the parties' 

parenting issues. In the order, the trial court credited 

the testimony of both Father and Dr. Steinberg, the 

court-appointed psychologist. In his evaluation sub­

mitted to the trial court, Dr. Steinberg diagnosed 

Mother with "Narcissistic Eersonality Disorder with 

Borderline Personality Disorder Features" and deter-
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mined that Mother's psychological problems had 

negatively affected the parties' children.rM The par­

enting order recited the trial court's concern that, if 

Daughter were permitted to reside primarily with 

Mother, Mother's influence would eventually cause 

Daughter to become alienated from Father. Conse­

quently, the trial court designated Father as Daughter's 

primary residential parent and granted Mother only 

two hours per week of supervised parenting time at the 

Exchange Club. The trial court ordered the restrictions 

on Mother's parenting time to continue until Mother 

produced evidence that she "has corrected her de­

structive behavior and inability to put the children 

before her disdain for her Husband," and also "[u]ntil 

the Court sees evidence from psychologists that 

[Daughter] will be positively parented." FC\
7 The order 

indicated that the trial court intended to review the 

parenting arrangement every six months. 

FN6. Dr. Steinberg reportedly found Mother 

to be "a manipulative person who uses anger, 

threats and bullying to control whatever sit­

uation she is in, or whomever she is at­

tempting to manipulate." 

FN7. The trial court found that Mother's 

"behavior in front of others, particularly 

people known to the couple, and in front of 

their children, is both bizarre and unac­

ceptable behavior in civilized society." 

Mother filed a timely motion for interlocutory 

appeal pursuant to Rule 9 of the Tennessee Rules of 

Appellate Procedure. After a hearing, on May 31, 

2013, the trial court entered an order denying Mother's 

motion. 

On June 10, 2013, the trial court issued a brief 

oral addendum to its May 31, 2013 ruling. The ad­

dendum was apparently in response to Mother's con­

tention that the trial court's finding that Mother's in­

fluence was harmful to Daughtel'-- was inconsistent 
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with the trial court's failure to remove the child from 

Mother's care until several months after the hearing. In 

its addendum, the trial court explained it did not im­

mediately remove Daughter because the danger to the 

child was not immediate or imminent; rather, Mother's 

"destructive influence and emotional abuse was of 

long-standing etiology and insidious in nature." The 

trial judge stated affirmatively that she "has no bias, 

no sympathies in this Court's decision and I am con­

strained by the law and I follow the law." 

*3 Dissatisfied with the parenting order, Mother 

filed an application with this Court for permission for 

extraordinary appeal pursuant to Rule l 0 of the Ten­

nessee Rules of Appellate Procedure. On September 6, 

2013, this Court entered an order denying Mother's 

application for extraordinary appeal. 

Meanwhile, on or about August 21, 2013, the 

GAL sent an invoice for her fees to Mother.FNS The 

invoice included entries indicating that, on April 16, 

2013, a staff member from Judge Fields' office con­

tacted the GAL to request information about Mother's 

residence, referred to as the "Three Doves property." 

The relevant entries read: 

FN8. The GAL fees were to be divided 

equally between the parties, but the submis­

sions to this Court do not indicate whether 

the GAL's invoice was also sent to Father. 

4/16/13 Telephone call from Judge Fields' office 

requesting information regarding Three Doves 

property; 

4/16/13 Receipt of message from Judge Fields' of­

fice; telephone conference with Runyon re: Three 

Doves property; 

4/16/13 Telephone conference with Judge Fields' 

office with response regarding Three Doves prop­

erty-no pool, but has 2 acre pond:-·-
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Thus, the invoice entries indicated possible ex parte 

contact between the GAL and the trial judge's of­

fice, and possible ex parte contact between the GAL 

and Father as well. Each entry was billed for .05 

hours, for a total of nine minutes billable time for all 

three entries. 

On August 26, 2013, counsel for Mother called 

the GAL to inquire about the invoice entries.rn9 Ac­

cording to affidavits signed by witnesses to the con­

versation, the GAL told counsel for Mother that Judge 

Fields asked the GAL whether there was a pool on the 

Three Doves property and the GAL's response was, 

"No, but there is a pond ." The GAL allegedly told 

Mother's counsel that she probably called Father for 

the answer to the trial court's question, adding that, if 

this were so, she did not know why she called Father 

instead of Mother. The GAL also indicated that the 

first two of the three entries in question may have been 

duplicates. The GAL insisted that the existence of a 

pool on the property was all that the GAL discussed, 

and she maintained that it was not inappropriate for 

her to respond to Judge Fields' question. 

FN9. The submissions to this Court do not 

reveal whether counsel for Father was noti­

fied of this phone call or invited to participate 

in the conversation with the GAL. 

The next day, the GAL sent an email to counsel 

for Mother. The email said that the GAL "felt am­

bushed" by the phone call from Mother's attorney and 

was "not thinking clearly and was trying to answer 

you despite not being able to recall the day in ques­

tion." Upon further reflection and discussions with her 

secretary, the GAL said, she realized that she had been 

unable to clearly recall the events because she "did 

NOT talk to anyone in the Judges [sic] office," her 

secretary did. The GAL explained in her email that her 

secretary left her a note with the trial court's question, 

the GAL-obtained the answer, and then the GAL's 
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secretary called Judge Fields' office with the answer. 

The GAL's email stated, "I had no contact with the 

Judge." 

On August 29, 2013, based on this information, 

Mother filed a motion asking Judge Fields to recuse 

herself from the case. Mother also filed a separate 

motion to excuse the GAL and a motion to set aside 

the judgment in the May 17, 2013 parenting order. 

*4 In the motion to recuse, Mother argued that 

Judge Fields was disqualified from presiding over the 

matter for violation of several provisions of Rule 10 of 

the Tennessee Supreme Court Rules, Rules of Judicial 

Conduct ("RJC"), specifically Sections 2.09 and 

2.11.rnio She argued that, by engaging in ex parte 

communications with the GAL and making inde­

pendent inquiries into Mother's property situation, 

Judge Fields created "a convincing appearance of 

impropriety." Mother pointed to the fact that, early in 

the parenting hearing, Judge Fields commented that it 

was not her "intent for the parties to have supervised 

visitation unless there is some major concern that I can 

be convinced of. These children need their parents. 

They need both their parents." In the same way, 

Mother claimed, the trial court's March 2013 ruling on 

spring break indicated the trial court's intent at that 

time to maintain the week-on/week-off visitation, and 

also that neither party have three consecutive weeks of 

parenting time. Mother's parenting time with Daughter 

had no significant restrictions, Mother pointed out, 
until after the April 16 ex parte communication be­

tween the trial court and the GAL. To bolster her 

argument, Mother cited other actions by Judge Fields 

that allegedly indicated lack of impartiality. Mother 

pointed to the impromptu April 10, 2013 telephonic 

hearing on Father's motion for tutoring, in which the 

trial court denied Mother an opportunity to respond to 

Father's motion, Mother's request to have a court re­

porter present, and Mother's request for an evidentiary 

hearing; the trial court then granted Father's motion. 

Mother also noted that, at the parenting hearing, Judge 
_ .. ----~ 

Fields reviewed certain psychological records of the 
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parties' son in camera and may have relied on those 

documents in making her ruling, but nevertheless 

denied Mother's request to examine the same records. 

FN l 0. The original motion to recuse was not 

submitted with Mother's petition for appeal, 

but Mother indicates that the amended peti­

tion includes the same arguments as in the 

original petition, with a few additions. 

The motion to recuse was set for hearing on 

September 6, 2013. Father filed a motion for a con­

tinuance, which was heard on September 4, 2013. The 

trial court granted the continuance but did not set a 
new hearing date at that time. Fl\I I 

FN I I . Not long after that, Judge Fields was 

absent for several weeks on medical leave. 

On October 11, 2013, Mother filed an amended 

motion to recuse. The amended motion included the 

same arguments as the original motion. Mother sub­

mitted 22 exhibits and unpublished authorities in 

support of the motion. 

The amended motion to recuse also included the 

results of an anonymous survey commissioned by 

Mother for purposes of her motion to recuse, sup­

posedly showing that the sampling of the general 

public in the survey perceived the trial court's actions 

as inappropriate.f'l\12 Father filed a response to the 

Mother's amended motion to recuse, and the GAL 

filed a response to Mother's motion to excuse the GAL 

from the case. Mother filed a reply and an amended 

reply to the responses. 

FN 12. The survey posed a hypothetical sce­

nario purporting to be the facts in this case, 

and asked the survey participants whether the 

judge's actions were appropriate and whether 

the judge should continue to preside over the 

~~-case in question. According to the survey, 
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89.3% of those surveyed concluded that the 

trial judge "made improper communica­

tions," and that "another judge should hear 

the rest of the case." 

On November 12, 2013, the GAL filed documents 

in support of her response to Mother's motion to ex­

cuse the GAL from the case. The GAL filed her own 

affidavit averring that the April 16, 2013 communi­

cations between her office and Judge Fields' office 

were "administrative in nature" and that "the topic had 

been presented to the Court in testimony of the par­

ties." The GAL said that she had "not witnessed any­

thing that would make me question Judge Fields' im­

partiality," and that granting the motion to recuse 

would cause further undue delay in resolution of the 

case. Attached to the GAL's affidavit were (1) an 

affidavit of the GAL's secretary, Theresa Lamb; (2) 

pre-bills indicating Ms. Lamb's entry for time spent 

addressing the court's question; (3) a handwritten note 

from Ms. Lamb to the GAL; and ( 4) a copy of a text 

message between the GAL and Ms. Lamb. The at­

tachments were submitted to support the GAL's as­

sertion that the communications between Judge Fields' 

office and Ms. Lamb were only about the existence of 

a pool at the Three Doves property, and that the 

communications were merely administrative because 

the parties had testified to the relevant facts at the 

hearing. 

*5 Also on November 12, 2013, the parties ap­

peared for a hearing on Mother's Amended Motion to 

Recuse. Judge Fields declined to hear oral argument 

and told the parties that she intended to promptly issue 

a written ruling. 

On November 19, 2013, Judge Fields entered a 

written order denying Mother's motion to recuse. In 

the order, Judge Fields first noted that the subject of 

whether there was a pool at either of the parties' homes 

was explored in the testimony presented at the par­

enting h~ting. Judge Fields then explained that she 

could not locate notations on the testimony about that 

© 2014 Thomson Reuters. No Claim to Orig. US Gov. Works. 



Slip Copy, 2014 WL 1285729 (Tenn.Ct.App.) 

(Cite as: 2014 WL 1285729 (Tenn.Ct.App.)) 

issue in her notes on the evidence presented at the 

hearing: 

Included in the proof at trial was the fact that 

Mother disapproved of Father's purchase of a 

houseboat. Her reason was that two of their children 

could not swim. Mother's anger at Father's purchase 

of a boat because it endangered the children raised 

in the Court's mind the question of whether either 

parent's home had a pool as the Court recalled some 

testimony about a pool but could not find a refer­

ence in her notes. As previously stated, the testi­

mony in this case required fifteen days of trial and 

eventually generated a 4,000 page transcript. 

The question of a pool at the parents' homes had 

been addressed at least once in the proof at trial. 

(Transcript p. 2261, l. 4, hearing on January 9, 

2013), but the Court could not find a reference in her 

trial notes to the testimony concerning whether ei­

ther parent's home had a pool. The Court had her 

courtroom clerk call the Guardian ad Litem's office 

solely concerning whether there was a pool at the 

Mother's home, and then a call to see if there was a 

pool at the Father's home. The answer came back 

that neither home had a pool, but there was a pond at 

the Mother's home. 

Thus, Judge Fields acknowledged telephone calls 

between her staff and the GAL, but said that they were 

simply to "double check" Judge Fields' recollection of 

the testimony on the existence of a pool. 

In the order denying Mother's motion to recuse, 

Judge Fields also observed, "Regardless of which 

counsel the Court had contacted, the answer would 

have been exactly the same-that there was no pool at 

Mother's house (but there is a pond), and that there is 

no pool at Father's house." She indicated that the 

GAL's response to her questions merely confirmed 

Judge Fields' recollection of the testimony on the 

existence of a pool and "added no new fact ~to-this 

Page 6 

matter." Judge Fields asserted that the telephone calls 

"did not concern anything that had any substantive 

bearing on the custody ruling" and "gave no party any 

advantage." 

Judge Fields' order concluded that the facts did 

not impugn her impartiality and did not require 

recusal. To require recusal, Judge Fields reasoned, 

"[t]he alleged bias or prejudice must come from 

something other than the facts the judge has learned 

during the case under consideration," and the judge's 

conduct must demonstrate bias or prejudice when 

viewed under an objective standard. Judge Fields 

explained: 

*6 The Court's clerk made phone calls to the 

Guardian ad Litem to help the Court administra­

tively marshal the Court's notes while working on a 

ruling. Tennessee Supreme Court Rule l 0, Rule 2. 9, 

recognizes that ex parte contact is permitted for 

such administrative matters, when the judge rea­

sonably believes that no party will gain procedural, 

substantive, or tactical advantage as a result of the 

ex parte communication. That is the case here. Rule 

2.9 further requires that the judge promptly notify 

all other parties of the substance of the ex parte 

communication and give the parties the opportunity 

to respond. No substance was discussed. Since the 

topic was irrelevant to the Court's ruling, there was 

nothing for any party to respond to, nor would any 

response be any different at all on the fact reported 

by the Guardian ad Litem. The phone calls did not 

touch on the merits of the case. The phone calls are 

no evidence of any bias or pre-judging of the case. 

Judge Fields commented that Mother's motion for 

recusal could be read to insinuate that Judge Fields 

may have elicited a bribe during the ex parte phone 

calls, and she pointed out that Mother offered no ev­

idence to support this insinuation. Judge Fields held 

that Mother's due process rights were not violated, and 

she rejected Mother's other arguments in support_Qf 

her claims of bias. Judge Fields commented: "Adverse 
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rulings ... are not usually sufficient grounds for 

recusal." 

Mother filed this interlocutory appeal as of right 

from the trial court's order denying the motion to 

recuse pursuant to Rule 1 OB of the Tennessee Su­

preme Court Rules. Tenn. S.Ct. R. I OB ("Rule I OB"), 

§ 2.01. On December 16, 2013, Judge Fields entered 

an order sua sponte to stay the trial court proceedings 

pending the outcome of this appeal. See id. § 2.04. 

APPEALS UNDER RULE lOB 
Rule I OB authorizes an aggrieved party to file "an 

accelerated interlocutory appeal as of right" from an 

order denying a motion to recuse or to disqualify the 
trial court judge.nm Id § 2.01. Under Rule I OB, the 

appellant must file, along with the petition, "copies of 

any order or opinion and any other parts of the record 

necessary for determination of the appeal." Id. § 2.03. 

The appellate court may order the other parties to 

answer the appellant's petition and file any necessary 

documents, but it is also authorized to adjudicate the 

appeal summarily, without an answer from other par­

ties. Id. § 2.05. In this case, Father responded to 

Mother's appeal and filed copies of additional docu­

ments from the trial court proceedings in support of 

his position that the trial court correctly denied the 

motion to recuse. We emphasize that the only issue 

before the Court in this appeal is whether the trial 

judge erred in denying Mother's motion to recuse. See 

McKen::.ie v. McKenzie. No. 

M2014-000IO-COA-TIOB-CV, 2014 WL 575908, 

at *I (Tenn.Ct.App. Feb.I I, 2014); In re Bridgestone 

Corp .. No. M2013-00637-COA-10B-CV, 2013 WL 

1804084, at *I (Tenn.Ct.App. Apr.26, 2013 ), perm. 

app. denied (Tenn. June 11, 2013). In accordance with 

Rule I OB, we review the trial court's recusal decision 

d d f . ""~ 14 R I lOB § "upon a de novo stan ar o review. · u e , 

2.06. The party seeking recusal bears the burden of 

proof, and "any alleged bias must arise from extraju­

dicial sources and not from events or observations 

during litigation of a case." McKen::.ie. 2014 WL 

575908. at *3. "If the bias is alleged to stem from 

events occur[r]ing in the course of the litigation of the 
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case, the party seeking recusal has a greater burden to 

show bias that would require recusal, i.e., that the bias 

is so pervasive that it is sufficient to deny the litigant a 

fair trial." Id. 

FN 13. Section 2. 01 pro vi des: 

If the trial court judge enters an order 

denying a motion for the judge's disquali­

fication or recusal, or for determination of 

constitutional or statutory incompetence, 

an accelerated interlocutory appeal as of 

right lies from the order. The failure to 

pursue an accelerated interlocutory appeal, 

however, does not constitute a waiver of 

the right to raise any issue concerning the 

trial court's ruling on the motion in an ap­

peal as of right at the conclusion of the 

case. The accelerated interlocutory appeal 

or an appeal as of right at the conclusion of 

the case shall be the exclusive methods for 

seeking appellate review of any issue 

concerning the trial court's denial of a mo­

tion filed pursuant to this Rule. 

Rule IOB, § 2.01. 

FN14. Prior to the adoption of Rule lOB, 

which became effective July 1, 2012, our 

standard of review for all recusal orders was 

the abuse of discretion standard. See State v. 

Hines. 919 S.W.2d 573, 578 (Tenn.1995). 

Under Section 2.06 of Rule IOB, we apply a 
de novo standard of review in Rule 1 OB ap­

peals. 

ANALYSIS 
*7 In general, Mother argues that Judge Fields 

erred in refusing to recuse herself after she initiated ex 

parte communications with the GAL to seek out 

prejudicial information against Mother. Mother also 

contends that, both before and after the ex -parte 
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communications, Judge Fields allegedly demonstrated 

"a continued display of bias and hostility toward 
Mother and her counsel." FNJs 

FN15. On January 24, 2014, Father filed a 

motion with this Court to strike Mother's re­

ply brief in this appeal. He argues that a reply 

brief is not permitted under Rule lOB. We 

agree that Rule lOB does not specifically 

authorize the appellant in a Rule l OB to file a 

reply brief, so Mother should have sought 

leave from this Court before filing her reply 

brief. Nevertheless, we exercise our discre­

tion to allow the reply brief and have con­

sidered the arguments in Mother's reply brief 

in this appeal. Accordingly, Father's motion 

to strike is hereby denied. 

We briefly review the Rules of Judicial Conduct 

on which Mother relies. RJC 2.11 requires recusal "in 

any proceeding in which the judge's impartiality might 

reasonably be questioned," including any situation in 

which "[t]he judge has a personal bias or prejudice 

concerning a party or a party's lawyer, or personal 

knowledge of facts that are in dispute in the proceed­

ing." This is consistent with the more general RJC 1.2, 

which directs judges to "act at all times in a manner 

that promotes public confidence in the independence, 

integrity and impartiality of the judiciary" and to 

"avoid impropriety and the appearance of improprie­

ty." RJC 2.9 governs any ex parte communications 

that may take place between a judge and the parties to 
the litigation or their attorneys.Fi\!6 

FN 16. The Rule provides: 

(A) A judge shall not initiate, permit, or 

consider ex parte communications, or 

consider other communications made to 

the judge outside the presence of the par­

ties or their lawyers, concerning a pending 

or impending matter, except as follows: 
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(1) When circumstances require it, ex parte 

communication for scheduling, adminis­

trative, or emergency purposes, which 

does not address substantive matters, is 

permitted, provided: 

(a) the judge reasonably believes that no 

party will gain procedural, substantive, or 

tactical advantage as a result of the ex pa rte 

communication; and 

(b) the judge makes provision promptly to 

notify all other parties of the substance of 

the ex parte communication, and gives the 

parties an opportunity to respond. ' 

(2) A judge may obtain the advice of a 

disinterested expert on the law applicable 

to a proceeding before the judge, if the 

judge gives notice to the parties of the 

person consulted and the substance of the 

advice, and affords the parties a reasonable 

opportunity to respond to the advice re­

ceived. 

(3) A judge may consult with court staff 

and court officials whose functions are to 

aid the judge in carrying out the judge's 

adjudicative responsibilities, or with other 

judges, provided the judge makes reason­

able efforts to avoid receiving factual in­

formation that is not part of the record, and 

does not abrogate the responsibility per­

sonally to decide the matter. 

( 4) [Intentionally omitted] 

(5) A judge may initiate, permit, or con­

sider any ex parte communication when 

expressly a~t~2rized by law to do so. 
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(B) If a judge receives an unauthorized ex 

parte communication bearing upon the 

substance of a matter, the judge shall make 

provision promptly to notify the parties of 

the substance of the communication and 

provide the parties with an opportunity to 

respond. 

(C) A judge shall not investigate facts in a 

matter independently, and shall consider 

only the evidence presented and any facts 

that may properly be judicially noticed. 

(D) A judge shall make reasonable efforts, 

including providing appropriate supervi­

sion, to ensure that this Rule is not violated 

by court staff, court officials, and others 

subject to the judge's direction and control. 

RJC 2.9. 

Ex Parte Communications With the GAL 

The facts surrounding Mother's claims are largely 

undisputed.rn 17 The documents submitted by the par­

ties on the ex parte communications are: (1) the April 

16, 2013 entries in the GAL's fee bill; (2) the two 

affidavits filed by Mother describing the GAL's Au­

gust 27, 2013 teleconference with counsel for Mother; 

(3) the GAL's email to counsel for Mother correcting 

her recollection of the April 16, 2013 communica­

tions; and (4) the GAL's affidavit filed on November 

12, 2013, with attachments, indicating that the dis­

cussions were only on the existence of a pool at 

Mother's home and that this was an administrative task 

of confirming for Judge Fields facts already intro­

duced into evidence at the parenting hearing. Excerpts 

from the transcript of the parenting hearing reveal that 

Judge Fields asked Mother directly at the hearing 

whether she had a pool, and Mother responded that 

she did not. 

FN 17. -Mother refers in her argument to 
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"changing versions" of the ex parte commu­

nications. While there are a few variations on 

the facts, the variations are de minimus and 

make little difference to the analysis. 

Overall, the documents submitted establish the 

following facts-that Judge Fields or a member of her 

staff called the GAL, the call was received by either 

the GAL or her secretary, Judge Fields or her staff 

member inquired about whether Mother had a pool at 

her residence, and the existence of a pool at Mother's 

residence was a fact about which Mother testified at 

the parenting hearing.Em After that, either the GAL or 

the GAL's secretary contacted Father, but did not 

contact Mother, and the GAL or her secretary reported 

back to Judge Fields or her staff member that Mother's 

residence did not have a pool, but did have a pond. 

FN 18. Judge Fields stated in her recusal or­

der that she called the GAL to inquire about 

the pool situation at the homes of both 

Mother and Father. In contrast, the docu­

ments submitted with Mother's recusal peti­

tion indicated that the GAL described the 

inquiry as only about the "Three Doves 

property," Mother's home. We assume ar­

guendo that Judge Fields' question for the 

GAL related to a pool only at Mother's home. 

Mother argues vigorously that the trial court's ex 

parte investigation of Mother but not Father made it 

appear that Judge Fields was "seeking prejudicial 

information against Mother." The statement by Judge 

Fields in her recusal order that she sought information 

on the existence of a pool at the homes of both Mother 

and Father was an attempt to avoid the appearance of 

impropriety, Mother argues, and she notes that the 

GAL recalled that the trial court's question was as to 

Mother only. On these facts, Mother claims, Judge 

Fields' impartiality could reasonably be questioned, 

particularly given the timing of the ex parte commu­

nications. Prior t~e communications, Mother 

claims, Judge Fields was predisposed to continue the 
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parties' unsupervised week-on/week-off parenting 

arrangement. After the ex parte communications, 

Judge Fields severely restricted Mother's parenting 

time. The timing of Judge Fields' decision, Mother 

argues, makes it appear as if the improper ex parte 

communications were "the basis for a radical change 

in the Trial Court's position, and did prejudice Moth­

er." Petition at p. l l. Mother contends that "seeking 

prejudicial information against Mother, then departing 

from her prior parenting orders of week-to-week 

parenting time by placing Mother under restricted 

supervised visitation," created an appearance of im­

propriety and partiality toward Father that required the 

trial court to grant Mother's motion for recusal. 

*8 Mother disputes Judge Fields' characterization 

of the communications with the GAL as "administra­

tive" within the meaning of RJC § 2.9. But even if the 

communications were administrative, Mother points 

out, RJC § 2.9 says they are permitted only if the 

parties are given an opportunity to respond, which was 

not done in this case. Under all of these circumstances, 

Mother urges this Court to conclude that Judge Fields 

violated several Rules of Judicial Conduct, that her 

actions created an appearance of impropriety and 

partiality toward Father, and that Judge Fields erred in 

declining to recuse herself from this case. 

In deciding whether to recuse from a matter based 

on partiality, the Tennessee Supreme Court has ex­

plained that a judge must apply both a subjective test 

and an objective test: 

Motions for recusal call into question the integrity 

of the judicial process and require serious and 

careful consideration. Persons appearing in Ten­

nessee's courts have a fundamental right to have 

their cases heard and decided by fair and impartial 

judges. Bean v. Bailey. 280 S.W.3d 798, 803 

(Tenn.2009); Chumbley v. People's Bank & Trust 

Co., 165 Tenn. 655, 659, 57 S.W.2d 787. 788 

( 1933). This right "guard[s] against the prejudgment 

of the rights of litigants and [assists in] avoid[ing] 
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situations in which the litigants might have cause to 

conclude that the court ... reached a prejudiced 

conclusion because of interest, partiality, or favor." 

State v. Austin. 87 S.W.3d 447. 470 (Tenn.2002) 

(appendix). 

To protect this right, Article VI, Section 11 of the 

Constitution of Tennessee states that judges should 

not preside over trials in which they "may be inter­

ested." Likewise, Tenn. Sup.Ct. R. 10, Canon 2{A) 

states that judges "shall act at all times in a manner 

that promotes public confidence in the integrity and 

impartiality of the judiciary." Accordingly, Tenn. 

Sup.Ct. R. 10, Canon 3(E)(l) admonishes that "[a] 

judge shall disqualify himself or herself in a pro­

ceeding in which the judge's impartiality might 

reasonably be questioned." 

In re Hooker. 340 S.W.3d 389, 394-95 

(Tenn.2011), quoted in Camp v. Camp, 361 S.W.3d 

539, 547 (Tenn.Ct.App.2011). In Bean v. Bailey, cited 

in In re Hooker, the Court emphasized the objective 

standard: 

We have held that a recusal motion should be 

granted when "the judge has any doubt as to his or 

her ability to preside impartially in the case" or " 

'when a person of ordinary prudence in the judge's 

position, knowing all of the facts known to the 

judge, would find a reasonable basis for questioning 

the judge's impartiality.' " Davis, 38 S.W.3d at 

564-65 (quoting Alley v. State, 882 S.W.2d 810. 

820 (Tenn.Crim.App.1994)). Even if a judge be­

lieves he can be fair and impartial, the judge should 

disqualify himself when " 'the judge's impartiality 

might be reasonably questioned' " because "the 

appearance of bias is as injurious to the integrity of 

the judicial system as actual bias." Id. (quoting 

Tenn. Sup.Ct. R. 10, Canon 3(E)(l)). 

*9 Bean v. Bailey, 280 S.W.3d 798, 805 

(Tenn.2009). Thus, to preserve the integrity of the 

judicial system, if a person of ordinary prudence in the 

judge's position, knowing all of the facts known to the 
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judge, might reasonably question the partiality of the 

judge, then the judge must recuse himself. 

While the words "bias" and "prejudice" are cen­

tral to a determination on recusal, neither term is de­

fined in Tennessee caselaw as it relates to recusal. 

Alley v. State. 882 S.W.2d 81 O. 821 

(Tenn.Crim.App.1994). The terms generally refer to 

an attitude or state of mind that predisposes a judge for 

or against a party. Id. (citing 46 Am.Jur.2d "Judges"§ 

167 (1969)); see also McKenzie. 2014 WL 575908, at 

*3. Not every bias, partiality, or prejudice requires 

recusal: "To disqualify, prejudice must be of a per­

sonal character, directed at the litigant, 'must stem 

from an extrajudicial source and result in an opinion 

on the merits on some basis other than what the judge 

learned from ... participation in the case.' "Alley, 882 

S.W.2d at 821 (quoting State ex rel. Wesolich v. 

Goeke, 794 S.W.2d 692, 697 (Mo.App.1990)). 

The sole issue in this appeal is recusal. We need 

not determine whether the ex parte communications 

constitute a violation of RJC 2.9, only whether they 

mandate Judge Fields' recusal in this case.FNI 9 Gener­

ally, an ex parte communication requires recusal only 

where it creates an appearance of partiality or preju­

dice against a party so as to call into question the 

integrity of the judicial process. See Johnson v. 

Johnson. No. M2002-00354-COA-R3-CV, 2003 

WL 61249, at *4-5 (Tenn.Ct.App. Jan.9, 2003) (alt­

hough notice was not given to mother's counsel about 

administrative consultation between trial judge and 

father's counsel, the overriding issue was whether the 

judge's conduct created appearance of partiality); 

Malmquist v. Malmquist. 415 S.W.3d 826, 839-40 

(Tenn.Ct.App.2011) (upholding trial judge's denial of 

motion to recuse because "the record does not indicate 

any bias on the part of' the trial judge); see also 

Powhatan Cemetery. Inc. v. Colbert, 104 Ark. App. 

290, 292 S.W.3d 302, 309-10 (Ark.Ct.App.2009) 

(holding that trial court's ex parte discussions with 

counsel for appellees was not grounds for recusal 

because movant did not demonstrate bias); Comiskey ---
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v. District Ct. In and for County of Pueblo, 926 P.2d 

539, 544 (Colo.1996) (en bane, noting that "the mere 

allegation that a judge engaged in an ex parte com­

munication is not enough to require recusal" and that 

"[t]he petitioner must also allege facts sufficient to 

infer that the judge is or appears to be biased"); State 

v. Lotter, 255 Neb. 456, 586 N.W.2d 591, 610 

(Neb.1998) (holding that "not all ex parte communi­

cations subject a judge to recusal" and "a trial judge 

must recuse himself or herself only when the ex parte 

communication poses a threat to the judge's impar­

tiality"). 

FNI 9. On February 18, 2014, Mother filed a 

motion to supplement her Rule 1 OB recusal 

appeal and to consider postjudgment facts, 

asking this Court to consider the documents 

filed and circumstances surrounding Moth­

er's complaint to the Tennessee Board of Ju­

dicial Conduct. As this information is not 

pertinent to the issue in this appeal, Mother's 

motion is hereby denied. 

In the case sub Judice, despite a surfeit of innu­

endo, we find no facts in the record to support Moth­

er's argument that the ex parte communications 

mandate Judge Fields' recusal. The transcript of the 

parties' parenting hearing was indeed voluminous. The 

facts indicate that Judge Fields was unable to locate 

her notes on the parties' testimony on a minor fact, 

tangential to the primary issue before the trial court, so 

she or her office contacted the GAL's office to clarify 

Judge Fields' recollection of the testimony.FN20 That is 

all. Mother has presented no facts indicating that the 

subject of the communications was anything other 

than what Judge Fields said it was. A claim of bias or 

prejudice must be based on facts, not speculation or 

innuendo; Mother "must come forward with some 

evidence" to support her assertions of bias or partial­

ity. Eldridge v. Eldridge, 137 S.W.3d I, 7 

(Tenn.Ct.App.2002) (quoting Davis v. Tenn. Dep't of 

Employment Sec., 23 S.W.3d 304, 313 

(Tenn.Ct.App.1999)); see Todd v. Jackson 213 
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S.W.3cl 277, 282 (Tenn.Ct.App.2006); see also 

Walker v. People. 126 Colo. 135. 248 P.2cl 287. 295 

(Colo.1952) (en bane, holding that "(s]uspicion, sur­

mise, speculation, rationalization, conjecture, innu­

endo, and statements of mere conclusions of the 

pleader may not be substituted for a statement of 
facts"). Mother has failed to do so.F:-<cI 

FN20. The GAL's decision to contact Fa­

ther's counsel on whether Mother had a pool 

at her residence has no bearing on whether 

Judge Fields erred in denying Mother's mo­

tion for recusal. Mother's motion to excuse 

the GAL is not at issue in this Rule 1 OB ap­

peal. 

FN2 l. Respectfully, the survey commis­

sioned by Mother's counsel for this appeal 

has no probative value. Mother seeks to 

submit what is essentially evidence in the 
form of an opinion poll of anonymous 

members of the public on application of the 

"person of ordinary prudence" standard to 

the issue in this case. In recusal matters, the 

trial judge, and the appellate court on appeal, 
are to determine whether a person of ordinary 

prudence in the judge's position, knowing all 

of the facts known to the judge, would find a 

reasonable basis for questioning the judge's 

impartiality. Bean v. Bailey, 280 S.W.3d 798, 

805 (Tenn.2009). This is not done by opinion 

poll. Therefore, we decline to consider either 

the survey or its results. 

*10 Mother argues that the timing of the ex parte 

communications gives the impression that they in­

fluenced Judge Fields' decision on parenting issues. 

There is a difference, however, between an inference 

from facts on one hand, and insinuation based on mere 

speculation on the other. Mother's argument falls into 

the latter category. Again, all of the evidence in this 

record shows that the ex part~mmunications were 

only about whether Mother had a pool at her resi-
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dence. Mother has presented no evidence to support 

any other conclusion. In the context of this case, 

whether Mother had a pool is inconsequential. The 

trial court's comprehensive parenting order states 

clearly that the trial court's decision was based on 

evidence that Mother had engaged in long-standing, 

insidious, emotional abuse of Daughter; not whether 
Mother had a pool or a pond. FNn See Clinard v. 

Blackwood, 46 S.W.3d 177, 187 (Tenn.2001) (with 

respect to disqualification of an attorney, suspicion of 

impropriety cannot be fanciful or unrealistic, the ap­

pearance of impropriety must be real; it is the "objec­

tive perception rather than the subjective and 'anxious' 

perceptions of the litigants that govern"). 

FN22. In a Rule lOB appeal such as this, we 

do not evaluate whether the trial court's 

parenting order was erroneous. As discussed 

below, that issue is for an appeal on the 

merits. 

For these reasons, we must reject Mother's ar­

gument that the ex parte communications between 

Judge Fields and the GAL created an appearance that 

Judge Fields is biased, prejudiced, or partial to Father. 

Continued Display of Bias and Hostility 
Mother also claims that, when combined with the 

improper ex parte communications, Judge Fields' 

"continued display of bias and hostility toward Mother 

and her counsel" mandated her recusal. In support, 

Mother contends that Judge Fields engaged in the 

following allegedly biased and hostile acts: 

•conducted a "surprise" hearing on April 10, 2013, 

on Father's motion to require tutoring and denied 

Mother's request for a court reporter and an eviden­

tiary hearing; 

• used Mother's statements at the April 10, 2013 

hearing to severely restrict Mother's parenting time; 
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•refused Mother's request to review the GAL's offer 

of proof, which consisted of a son's psychological 

records, and then relied on those records to restrict 

Mother's parenting time with Daughter; 

• misstated facts and issues in the recusal order that 

were not germane to Mother's motion for recusal. 

We dispatch with this argument. Consistent ad­

verse rulings against a party may provide the impetus 

for the maligned party to wish for another trial judge. 

They do not, however, provide a basis for requiring 

the trial judge's recusal from the case. Adverse rulings, 

"even if erroneous, numerous and continuous, do not, 

without more, justify disqualification." Duke v. Duke. 

398 S.W.3d 665. 671 (Tenn.Ct.App.2012) (quoting 

Alley. 882 S.W.2dat 821). "If the rule were otherwise, 

recusal would be required as a matter of course since 

trial courts necessarily rule against parties and wit­

nesses in every case, and litigants could manipulate 

the impartiality issue for strategic advantage, which 

the courts frown upon." Id. (quoting Davis v. Liberty 

Mut. Ins. Co .. 38 S.W.3d 560, 565 (Tenn.2001)); see 

also State v. Cannon, 254 S.W.3d 287. 308 

(Tenn.2008); Owens v. State, 13 S.W.3d 742, 757-58 

(Tenn.Crim.App.1999 ). In a case not unlike this one, 

the appellate court observed: 

*11 No doubt [the mother] would like to have a 

different judge take over this case, since she has 

seen her court-mandated time with her daughter 

steadily reduced. But adverse rulings by a trial court 

are not in themselves sufficient grounds to establish 

bias. Herrera v. Herrera. 944 S.W.2d 379 

(Tenn.Ct.App.1996). Also, where a court has been 

involved in a case for a very long time, recusal is not 

favored because of the expense and difficulty of 

starting over. Dunlap v. Dunlap, 996 S.W.2d 803 

(Tenn.Ct.App.1998 ). 

Johnson. 2003 WL 61249, at *5. 

It is not lost on this Court that, in the-face of ad-
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verse rulings, Mother twice unsuccessfully sought 

permission for interlocutory appeal and then seized 

upon a relatively minor transgression to insist that 

Judge Fields was obliged to recuse herself. The 

pleadings and documents submitted in support of this 

appeal are voluminous.rl\23 After the Court sifted 

through the mountain of paper, it appears that most of 

Mother's argument centers on matters that are more 

appropriate for the eventual appeal on the merits, not a 

Rule 1 OB appeal. This Court will not permit parties to 

litigate an appeal of the merits under the guise of a 

Rule 1 OB appeal on recusal. 

FN23. The volume of materials filed with 

respect to this appeal undermines the intent 

under Rule lOB for an accelerated appeal 

only on the limited issue of recusal. 

Accordingly, we affirm the trial court's denial of 

Mother's Amended Motion to Recuse. 

Attorney Fees 

vOn appeal, Father asks this Court for an award of 

attorney fees for his defense against Mother's motion 

to recuse in the trial court and also for his defense in 

this appeal. 

Father cites no authority for his request that this 

Court award him attorney fees for the trial court pro­

ceedings on recusal. Father should direct any such 

request to the trial court; we decline to consider it. 

As to Father's attorney fees for this appeal, "[a]n 

award of appellate attorney's fees is a matter within 

this Court's sound discretion." Chaffin v. Ellis, 211 

S.W.3d 264, 294 (Tenn.Ct.App.2006) (citing Archer 

v. Archer, 907 S.W.2d 412. 419 (Tenn.Ct.App.1995)). 

In adjudicating a request for attorney fees incurred on 

appeal, we consider the requesting party's ability to 

pay such fees, the party's success on appeal, whether 

the appeal was sought in good faith, and any other 

relevant equitable factors. Id. (citing Darvanrranesh 

© 2014 Thomson Reuters. No Claim to Orig. US Gov. Works. 



Slip Copy, 2014 WL 1285729 (Tenn.Ct.App.) 

(Cite as: 2014 WL 1285729 (Tenn.Ct.App.)) 

v. Gharacholou. No. M2004-00262-COA-R3-CV. 

2005 WL 1684050, at * 16 (Tenn.Ct.App. July 19, 

2005)). Exercising our discretion, we decline to award 

Father his attorney fees incurred in this appeal. 

CONCLUSION 
The decision of the trial court is affirmed and the 

cause is remanded for further proceedings consistent 

with this Opinion. Costs on appeal are to be taxed to 

Appellant Melanie Fortner Runyon and her surety, for 

which execution may issue if necessary. 

Tenn.Ct.App.,2014. 

Runyon v. Runyon 

Slip Copy, 2014 WL 1285729 (Tenn.Ct.App.) 

END OF DOCUMENT 
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IN THE CHANCERY COURT OF TENNESSEE FOR THE 
THIRTIETH JUDICIAL DISTRICT AT MEMPHIS 

THE STA TE OF TENNESSEE in its 
own behalf and for the use and benefit 
of SHELBY COUNTY and if applicable, 
THE CITY OF MEMPHIS, TENNESSEE, 
THE INCORPORATED MUNICIPALITIES OF 
OF ARLINGTON, BARTLETT, COLLIERVILLE, 
GERMANTOWN, LAKELAND, 
AND MILLINGTON, TENNESSEE, 

Plaintiffs, 
vs. 

DELINQUENT TAXPAYERS as shown on the 
20 I I Real Property Delinquent Tax Records of 
the Shelby County Trustee, 

Defendants. 

T.R.D. No. 9492-1 
Parcel 065-03 70-0-00022-0 

ORDER SETTING ASIDE JUDGMENT AND DISMJSSING 
AS TO DEFENDANT, MULLINS COLONIAL PAR1NERS, LLC FOR PARCEL 

065-03 70-0-00022-0 

This cause crune on to be heard before the Honorable Walter L. Evans, Chancellor 

of Part I of the Chancery Court of Tennessee for the Thirtieth Judicial District at Memphis, 

upon the statement of Gregory S. Gallagher, Shelby County Delinquent Tax Attorney, it 

satisfactorily appearing to the Court that the Plaintiffs in this cause desire to dismiss with prejudice 

this specific cause of action against Mullins Colonial Partners, LLC as to parcel number 

065-03 70-0-00022-0. 

IT IS THEREFORE ORDERED, ADJUDGED AND DECREED: 

1 .. That this specific cause of action for parcel 065-0370-0-00022-0 as to 

the Defendant, Mullins Colonial Partners, LLC , is dismissed with prejudice. 



Approved: 

Gallagher 007274 
elby C nty Delinquent Tax Attorney 

Fre an 
Memphis, Tennessee 38122 
901-327-4243 

WALTER L. EVANS 
CHANCELLOR WALTER L. EVANS 

Date 8/'.),I b_o1f. 
I 

CERTIFICATE OF SERVICE 

I, Gregory S. Gallagher, do hereby certify that a copy of this document was mailed 

postage prepaid U. S. mail to Mullins Colonial Partners, LLC at its mailing address 

668 Colonial Road, Suite I Memphis, Tennessee 38117 this 1/1'1 day of ~014. 

S. Gallagher t}y· A· AM-- -
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